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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

1. 

a. 

  

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Assets MOP’000 MOP’000
    

 Cash and balances with banks and other financial 
institutions 17,447,993 12,219,253

Deposits with monetary authority 4,390,352 4,397,482
Placements with other banks 92,358,533 76,348,565
Derivative financial assets 1,256,515 1,453,987

 Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 91,510 –

 Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 29,440,005 31,732,236

Financial assets at amortised cost 72,233,423 66,858,397
Loans and advances 153,883,845 175,926,157
Receivables and other assets 1,080,928 1,032,376
Property, plant and equipment 255,020 277,231
Investment property 48,105 48,822
Income tax recoverable 22,884 39,289
Deferred tax assets 38,619 84,922

    

Total assets 372,547,732 370,418,717
    

Liabilities

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 60,648,473 55,960,592
Deposits from customers 257,080,920 246,453,836
Derivative financial liabilities 1,089,716 1,242,155
Debt issued 3,347,694 18,108,963
Certificates of deposit issued 17,424,754 16,205,145
Income tax payable 43,709 78,894
Other liabilities 1,570,171 1,519,155

    

Total liabilities 341,205,437 339,568,740
    

Equity

Issued share capital 588,920 588,920
Reserves 30,753,375 30,261,057
Includes: General regulatory reserve 544,000 813,840

    Specific regulatory reserve – –
    

Total equity 31,342,295 30,849,977
    

Total equity and liabilities 372,547,732 370,418,717
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a.	 Consolidated statement of financial position

Group Level
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1. 

b. 

  

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Assets MOP’000 MOP’000
    

 Cash and balances with banks and other financial 
institutions 17,149,529 11,838,598

Deposits with monetary authority 4,390,352 4,397,482
Placements with other banks 92,358,533 76,348,565
Derivative financial assets 1,256,515 1,453,987

 Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 112,456 113,307

 Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 29,331,489 31,645,899

Financial assets at amortised cost 72,201,430 66,833,812
Loans and advances 153,883,845 175,926,157
Receivables and other assets 1,120,680 1,094,187
Property, plant and equipment 254,818 276,979
Interests in subsidiaries 79,980 79,980
Income tax recoverable 22,884 39,289
Deferred tax assets 41,026 86,964

    

Total assets 372,203,537 370,135,206
    

Liabilities

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 60,648,473 55,960,592
Deposits from customers 257,250,069 246,589,144
Derivative financial liabilities 1,089,716 1,242,155
Debt issued 3,347,694 18,108,963
Certificates of deposit issued 17,424,754 16,205,145
Income tax payable 34,706 72,996
Other liabilities 1,491,696 1,466,988

    

Total liabilities 341,287,108 339,645,983
    

Equity

Issued share capital 588,920 588,920
Reserves 30,327,509 29,900,303
Includes: General regulatory reserve 544,000 813,840

    Specific regulatory reserve – –
    

Total equity 30,916,429 30,489,223
    

Total equity and liabilities 372,203,537 370,135,206
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

b.	 Statement of financial position

Bank Level
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1. 

c.  

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Interest income 15,896,289 16,870,466

Interest expense (12,732,484) (13,792,290)
    

Net interest income 3,163,805 3,078,176

Fee and commission income 1,165,268 1,108,761

Fee and commission expense (524,436) (522,471)
    

Net fee and commission income 640,832 586,290

Other operating income 14,761 63,747
    

Operating income 3,819,398 3,728,213

Operating expenses (1,117,465) (1,159,850)
    

Operating profit before impairment losses 2,701,933 2,568,363

Net charge for impairment losses on financial 
instruments (2,579,421) (2,570,577)

Other income 25,239 86,248
    

Profit before tax 147,751 84,034

Income tax credit/(expense) 3,449 (19,893)
    

Profit for the year 151,200 64,141
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

c.	 Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

Group Level
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Other comprehensive income/(expense), (net of tax)
 Other comprehensive income/(expense) that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

 Change in fair value of equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 9,868 (257)

    

 Other comprehensive income/(expense) that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Change in fair value of hedging instruments  
under cash flow hedges 2,734 4,804

    

 Change in fair value of debt securities at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 333,849 492,035

 Reclassification to profit or loss upon disposal of debt 
securities at fair value through other comprehensive 
income – (39,107)

Net change in impairment allowances (6,032) (3,548)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation 4,437 (2,346)
    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 344,856 451,581
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 496,056 515,722
    

1. 

c.  

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

c.	 Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (continued)

Group Level (continued)
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1. 

d. 

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Interest income 15,877,353 16,857,198

Interest expense (12,734,113) (13,795,222)
    

Net interest income 3,143,240 3,061,976

Fee and commission income 1,091,293 1,040,380

Fee and commission expense (524,026) (522,825)
    

Net fee and commission income 567,267 517,555

Other operating income 15,937 63,571
    

Operating income 3,726,444 3,643,102

Operating expenses (1,094,980) (1,118,668)
    

Operating profit before impairment losses 2,631,464 2,524,434

Net charge for impairment losses on financial 
instruments (2,579,567) (2,570,519)

Other income 25,239 86,252
    

Profit before tax 77,136 40,167

Income tax credit/(expense) 11,836 (15,249)
    

Profit for the year 88,972 24,918
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

d. Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Bank Level
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Other comprehensive income/(expense) (net of tax)
 Other comprehensive income/(expense) that will  

not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods:

 Change in fair value of equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 9,868 (257)

    

 Other comprehensive income/(expense) that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Change in fair value of hedging instruments under  
cash flow hedges 2,734 4,804

 Change in fair value of debt securities at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 330,838 486,672

 Reclassification to profit or loss upon disposal of debt 
securities at fair value through other comprehensive 
income – (39,131)

Net change in impairment allowances (5,942) (3,567)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign  
operation 4,474 (2,346)

    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 341,972 446,175
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 430,944 471,093
    

1. 

d.  

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

d.	 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(continued)

Bank Level (continued)
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1. 

e. 

For the year ended 31 December 2024
 

Reserves
 

 

Issued
share

capital
Share

premium
Legal

reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve

Cash flow
hedge

reserve

Foreign
exchange

reserve
Regulatory

reserve
Other

reserves
Retained

profits Total

MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000
            

2024 1 1 At 1 January 2024 588,920 5,885,733 665,253 (673,030) 1,150 3,000 813,840 16,977 23,548,134 30,849,977

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 151,200 151,200
 Other comprehensive income/ 

(expense) for the year, net of tax:
 Change in fair value of equity 

investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – 9,868 – – – – – 9,868

Change in fair value of hedging 
instruments under cash flow 
hedges – – – – 2,734 – – – – 2,734

 
 

Change in fair value of debt 
securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – 333,849 – – – – – 333,849

Net change in impairment allowance – – – (6,032) – – – – – (6,032)
Exchange differences on translation 

of foreign operation – – – – – 4,437 – – – 4,437
            

Total comprehensive income for the 
year – – – 337,685 2,734 4,437 – – 151,200 496,056

Transfer from retained profits to legal 
reserve – – 4,080 – – – – – (4,080) –

Transfer to retained profits on 
disposal of equity investments 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – (1,434) – – – – 1,434 –

Dividend paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (3,738) (3,738)
AMCM  

1
Change in provision under AMCM 

rules (note 1) – – – – – – (269,840) – 269,840 –
            

2024 12 31 At 31 December 2024 588,920 5,885,733 669,333 (336,779) 3,884 7,437 544,000 16,977 23,962,790 31,342,295
            

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e.	 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1. 

e. 

Reserves
 

Issued 
share 

capital
Share 

premium
Legal 

reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve
Regulatory 

reserve
Other 

reserves
Retained 

profits Total

MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000
            

2023 1 1 At 1 January 2023 588,920 5,885,733 640,903 (1,122,153) (3,654) 5,346 1,316,020 (140,945) 23,501,360 30,671,530

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 64,141 64,141
 Other comprehensive income/ 

(expense) for the year, net of tax:
 Change in fair value of equity 

investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – (257) – – – – – (257)

Change in fair value of hedging 
instruments under cash flow 
hedges – – – – 4,804 – – – – 4,804

 
 

Change in fair value of debt 
securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – 492,035 – – – – – 492,035

Reclassification to profit or loss 
upon disposal of debt securities 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – (39,107) – – – – – (39,107)

Net change in impairment allowance – – – (3,548) – – – – – (3,548)
Exchange differences on translation 

of foreign operation – – – – – (2,346) – – – (2,346)
            

/( ) Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year – – – 449,123 4,804 (2,346) – – 64,141 515,722

Transfer from retained profits to legal 
reserve – – 24,350 – – – – – (24,350) –

Dividend paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (337,275) (337,275)
AMCM  

1
Change in provision under AMCM 

rules (note 1) – – – – – – (502,180) – 502,180 –
Others – – – – – – – 157,922 (157,922) –

            

2023 12 31 At 31 December 2023 588,920 5,885,733 665,253 (673,030) 1,150 3,000 813,840 16,977 23,548,134 30,849,977
            

1

2024 12 31
544,000,000 2023 12 31

813,840,000
2023 2024

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e.	 Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

Note 1:

The Group complies with AMCM requirement to maintain regulatory 
reserve in excess of the Group’s impairment allowance for loans and 
advances and financial guarantee contracts estimated through the transfer of 
retained profits to regulatory reserve. As at 31 December 2024, an amount 
of MOP544,000,000 (31 December 2023: MOP813,840,000) in regulatory 
reserve is not distributable under AMCM’s requirement. The transfers from 
regulatory reserve to retained profits were due to the decrease in required 
regulatory reserve as at year end.
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

f.	 Statement of changes in equity

1. 

f. 

For the year ended 31 December 2024
 

Reserves
 

Issued
share

capital
Share

premium
Legal

reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve

Cash flow
hedge

reserve

Foreign
exchange

reserve
Regulatory

reserve
Other

reserves
Retained

profits Total

MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000
            

2024 1 1 At 1 January 2024 588,920 5,885,733 588,920 (669,447) 1,150 3,000 813,840 16,977 23,260,130 30,489,223

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 88,972 88,972
 Other comprehensive income/

(expense) for the year, net of tax:
 

 
Change in fair value of equity 

investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – 9,868 – – – – – 9,868

Change in fair value of hedging 
instruments under cash flow 
hedges – – – – 2,734 – – – – 2,734

Change in fair value of debt 
securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – 330,838 – – – – – 330,838

Net change in impairment allowance – – – (5,942) – – – – – (5,942)
Exchange differences on translation 

of foreign operation – – – – – 4,474 – – – 4,474
            

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year – – – 334,764 2,734 4,474 – – 88,972 430,944

Transfer from retained profits to legal 
reserve – – – – – – – – – –

Transfer to retained profits on 
disposal of equity investments 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – (1,434) – – – – 1,434 –

Dividend paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (3,738) (3,738)
AMCM  

1
Change in provision under AMCM 

rules (note 1) – – – – – – (269,840) – 269,840 –
            

2024 12 31 At 31 December 2024 588,920 5,885,733 588,920 (336,117) 3,884 7,474 544,000 16,977 23,616,638 30,916,429
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

f.	 Statement of changes in equity (continued)

1. 

f. 

Reserves
  

Issued Investment Cash flow Foreign
share Share Legal revaluation hedge exchange Regulatory Other Retained

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total

MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000 MOP’000
            

2023 1 1 At 1 January 2023 588,920 5,885,733 588,920 (1,113,164) (3,654) 5,346 1,316,020 (140,945) 23,228,229 30,355,405

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 24,918 24,918
 Other comprehensive income/(expense) 

for the year, net of tax:
 

 
Change in fair value of equity 

investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – (257) – – – – – (257)

Change in fair value of hedging 
instruments under cash flow hedges – – – – 4,804 – – – – 4,804

 Change in fair value of debt securities 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – 486,672 – – – – – 486,672

Reclassification to profit or loss upon 
disposal of debt securities at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
income – – – (39,131) – – – – – (39,131)

Net change in impairment allowance – – – (3,567) – – – – – (3,567)
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operation – – – – – (2,346) – – – (2,346)
            

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 
for the year – – – 443,717 4,804 (2,346) – – 24,918 471,093

Transfer from retained profits to legal 
reserve – – – – – – – – – –

Dividend paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (337,275) (337,275)
AMCM  

1
Change in provision under AMCM 

rules (note 1) – – – – – – (502,180) – 502,180 –
Others – – – – – – – 157,922 (157,922) –

            

2023 12 31 At 31 December 2023 588,920 5,885,733 588,920 (669,447) 1,150 3,000 813,840 16,977 23,260,130 30,489,223
            

1

2024 12 31
544,000,000 2023 12 31

813,840,000
2023 2024

Note 1 :

The Bank complies with AMCM requirement to maintain regulatory reserve 
in excess of the Bank’s impairment allowance for loans and advances and 
financial guarantee contracts estimated through the transfer of retained 
profits to regulatory reserve. As at 31 December 2024, an amount of 
MOP544,000,000 (31 December 2023: MOP813,840,000) in regulatory 
reserve is not distributable under AMCM’s requirement. The transfers from 
regulatory reserve to retained profits for both years were due to the decrease 
in required regulatory reserve as at year end.
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中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

g.	 Consolidated statement of cash flow

Group Level

1. 

g. 

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Operating activities

Profit before tax 147,751 84,034
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 52,188 51,695
Interest income (15,896,289) (16,870,466)
Interest expense 12,732,484 13,792,290
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (5,144) (5,025)
Losses on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 358 141
Net gains from disposal of financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income – (39,107)
Net impairment losses on financial instruments 2,579,421 2,570,577
Net gains from disposal of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss (2,744) (80)
Net gains from derivative financial instruments (17,332) (4,315)
Foreign exchange difference 1,750,054 1,656,184

    

1,340,747 1,235,928

Changes in placements with other banks with original 
maturity beyond three months 10,956,230 45,070,772

Changes in minimum reserves with the monetary 
authority (269,395) 795,232

Changes in treasury bills with original maturity 
beyond three months 3,658,354 (9,793,480)

Changes in loans and advances 20,361,902 35,077,099
Changes in receivables and other assets (49,076) 1,937,888
Changes in financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss (88,766) 325,474
Changes in deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions 4,675,860 (42,567,107)
Changes in deposits from customers 10,911,400 (4,687,061)
Changes in other liabilities 69,819 (300,823)
Changes in financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss – (325,250)
Changes in fair value of derivative financial 

instruments 65,472 66,470
Interest received 13,842,134 15,165,644
Interest paid (12,915,637) (11,710,057)

    

Cash generated from operations 52,559,044 30,290,729
Income tax paid (15,253) (433,583)

    

Net cash generated from operating activities 52,543,791 29,857,146
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For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Investing activities
Dividend received from financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 5,144 5,025
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (5,163,718) (7,224,119)
Proceeds from redemption and disposal of financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 7,486,349 8,001,485

Purchases of financial assets at amortised cost (37,726,680) (45,401,681)
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at 

amortised cost 33,242,456 58,592,489
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (29,662) (47,882)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 35 45
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing 
activities (2,186,076) 13,925,362

    

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of certificates of deposit 49,539,433 147,163,693
Redemption of certificates of deposit issued (48,432,850) (195,462,057)
Proceeds from issuance of debts – 3,527,400
Redemption of debts issued (14,495,125) –
Dividends paid (3,738) (337,275)

    

Net cash used in financing activities (13,392,280) (45,108,239)
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36,965,435 (1,325,731)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 45,749,269 47,075,000
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 82,714,704 45,749,269

    

1. 

g. 

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

g.	 Consolidated statement of cash flow (continued)

Group Level (continued)



15

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Analysis of balance of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and balances with banks and other financial 

institutions 17,447,993 12,219,253
Deposits with monetary authority 4,390,352 4,397,482
Placements with other banks 92,358,533 76,348,565
Treasury bills classified as financial assets at amortised 

cost 21,953,095 20,735,865
    

Amounts shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position 136,149,973 113,701,165

Amounts with an original maturity of beyond three 
months (49,573,583) (64,357,433)

Minimum reserves with the monetary authorities (3,864,568) (3,595,173)
Impairment allowance provided for components of 

cash and cash equivalents 2,882 710
    

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows 82,714,704 45,749,269

    

1. 

g. 

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

g.	 Consolidated statement of cash flow (continued)

Group Level (continued)
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1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

h.	 Statement of cash flow

Bank Level

1. 

h.	

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Operating activities

Profit before tax 77,136 40,167
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 51,430 50,928
Interest income (15,877,353) (16,857,198)
Interest expense 12,734,113 13,795,222
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (5,144) (5,025)
Losses on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 358 136
Net gains from disposal of financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income – (39,131)
Net impairment losses on financial instruments 2,579,567 2,570,519
Net gains from disposal of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss (3,008) (227)
Net gains from derivative financial instruments (17,332) (4,315)
Foreign exchange difference 1,749,277 1,655,883

    

1,289,044 1,206,959

Changes in placements with other banks with original 
maturity beyond three months 10,957,263 45,065,939

Changes in minimum reserves with the monetary 
authority (269,330) 796,294

Changes in treasury bills with original maturity 
beyond three months 3,658,354 (9,793,480)

Changes in loans and advances 20,361,902 35,077,099
Changes in receivables and other assets (29,013) 1,916,483
Changes in financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 851 212,314
Changes in deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions 4,675,860 (42,567,107)
Changes in deposits from customers 10,947,086 (4,746,579)
Changes in other liabilities 43,513 (291,859)

 Changes in financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss – (325,250)

 Change in fair value of derivative financial 
instruments 68,480 66,470

Interest received 13,824,437 15,156,002
Interest paid (12,919,112) (11,710,330)
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For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Cash generated from operations 52,609,335 30,062,955
Income tax paid (9,938) (427,510)

    

Net cash generated from operating activities 52,599,397 29,635,445
    

Investing activities
Dividend received from financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 5,144 5,025
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (5,074,785) (7,224,119)
Proceeds from redemption and disposal of financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 7,416,879 7,990,680

Purchases of financial assets at amortised cost (37,695,356) (45,401,681)
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at 

amortised cost 33,218,334 58,592,489
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (29,662) (47,639)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 35 45
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing 
activities (2,159,411) 13,914,800

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of certificates of deposit 49,539,433 147,163,693
Redemption of certificates of deposit issued (48,432,850) (195,462,057)
Proceeds from issuance of debts – 3,527,400
Redemption of debts issued (14,495,125) –
Dividends paid (3,738) (337,275)

    

Net cash used in financing activities (13,392,280) (45,108,239)
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 37,047,706 (1,557,994)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 45,367,027 46,925,021
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 82,414,733 45,367,027

    

1. 

h.	

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

h.	 Statement of cash flow (continued)

Bank Level (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP’000 MOP’000
    

Analysis of balance of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and balances with banks and other financial 

institutions 17,149,529 11,838,598
Deposits with monetary authority 4,390,352 4,397,482
Placements with other banks 92,358,533 76,348,565
Treasury bills classified as financial assets at  

amortised cost 21,953,095 20,735,865
    

Amounts shown in the statement of financial position 135,851,509 113,320,510
Amounts with an original maturity of beyond three 

months (49,573,583) (64,357,432)
Minimum reserves with the monetary authorities (3,865,996) (3,596,667)
Impairment allowance provided for components of 

cash and cash equivalents 2,803 616
    

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash 
flow 82,414,733 45,367,027

    

Chairman, Executive Director Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Gao Ming Niu Jian Jun

1. 

h.	

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

h.	 Statement of cash flow (continued)

Bank Level (continued)
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2.	 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND MANAGEMENT 
REPORT

In 2024, under the multiple pressures and backgrounds such as complex 
and ever-changing situations, interwoven and common risks, and 
challenges of structural adjustment, Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China (Macau) Limited (“ICBC (Macau)” or “the Bank”) earnestly 
implemented the international development strategy of ICBC Group and 
the policies of the Macao SAR Government. According to the overall 
work plan of “maintaining stable growth, adjusting the structure, fostering 
new drivers, preventing risks and breaking new ground”, the Bank 
completed the tasks of risk prevention and business transformation for the 
current stage while meeting challenges head-on, and has achieved robust 
operations.

As at the end of 2024, the Bank had total assets of MOP372.5 billion, 
increase 0.57% from the previous year; and total liabilities of MOP341.2 
billion, increase 0.48% from the previous year. Its balance of deposits stood 
at MOP257.1 billion, increase 4.31% from the previous year. The balance of 
loans amounted to MOP153.9 billion, decrease 12.53% from the previous 
year. The Bank’s audited financial statements were prepared according to 
Macao Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs). In 2024, it registered a 
net profit of MOP1.51 billion. ICBC (Macau) continued to maintain its 
position as a fully-licensed, locally-registered mainstream bank with the 
widest range of services and the largest size of business in Macao.

2.  

2024

2024 3,725
0.57% 3,412

0.48% 2,571
4.31% 1,539
12.53%

1.51
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2.	 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND MANAGEMENT 
REPORT (continued)

Focusing on the Group’s major strategies, the Bank deepened the 
interactions among GBC and innovation in cross-border financial services, 
took forward-looking moves to build “electronic fence” scenarios and 
design relevant products, and signed a strategic cooperation agreement 
with the Guangdong-Macao In-depth Cooperation Zone in Hengqin. 
It stayed ahead of peers in cross-border financial services. The Bank 
energetically promoted data governance and technological innovation, 
improved the work efficiency of outlets and customer experience. It took 
the lead to launch ride code services in the Greater Bay Area, allowing 
people to ride buses in Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao with one QR 
code. Positive progress has been made in digital transformation. Focusing 
on global operation of enterprises, the Bank was committed to developing 
cross-border and cross-currency fund pool products, and constructing a 
global cash management system, which has covered 104 countries/regions 
and 61 currencies, with an annual settlement amount of more than MOP1 
trillion. It won the “Best Transaction Bank in Macau” award conferred 
by The Asian Banker for the first time. The Bank actively supported 
the development of modern finance in Macao, and won the Annual 
Underwriting Contribution Award and Issuance Contribution Award 
conferred by regulatory authorities. The Bank strengthened the governance 
of affiliates and look-through management and consolidation management 
of subsidiaries, to prevent governance risks. The Bank made coordinated 
efforts to formulate rules and regulations, screen risks and build up 
capabilities, effectively consolidated the foundation for credit management, 
and improved the professional and rigorous loan management. Besides, the 
Bank cares about the lives of employees and their development, organized 
the first financial service plan design competition for employees, launched 
a series of caring activities such as family rest, family parent-child 
relationship, and family movie watching, strengthened the cultivation of 
corporate culture in the new era, and created a harmonious development 
climate. The Bank sponsored school competitions in Macao, strengthened 
national education, and deeply fulfilled its social responsibilities. In 
a complex market environment, the Bank’s business performance has 
won wide recognition from the industry and international mainstream 
financial media. The Bank was named the “Best Bank in Macau” by British 
magazines The Banker and World Finance, and the American magazine 
Global Finance for another year, building a strong corporate image.

2.  
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2.	 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND MANAGEMENT 
REPORT (continued)

Looking to the future, the complex global political and economic 
environment and the cyclical changes in the world economy will pose 
severe external challenges and have a lingering impact on the world and 
Macao. The Bank will be dedicated to implementing the national strategies 
and the Macao SAR Government’s policies, and putting full effort to 
economic recovery in the post-pandemic era. Aligning to the series 
policies and plans for Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, 
particularly Guangdong-Macao In-depth Cooperation Zone in Hengqin, 
the Bank will give play to its advantages while serving the financial 
needs of local communities to further contribute to Macao’s economic 
diversification and integrate into China’s development. Meanwhile, the 
Bank will continuously fulfill its social responsibilities, contribute to 
people’s livelihood, serve the public, and dedicate itself to Macao’s long-
term prosperity and stable development.

Chief Executive Officer
Niu Jian Jun
Macao, 18 March 2025

2.  
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3.	 THE REPORT FROM THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

In accordance with the provision of Article of association and for the 
purpose of the said provision, the Board of Directors of Industrial and 
Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited has submitted to our firm 
the audited financial statements and the report from Board of Directors 
regarding the 2024 financial year, for issuing the related opinion.

After reviewing the documents submitted to our firm for opinion’s 
purpose, it is our opinion that those documents evidence clearly the Bank’s 
assets value and its financial and economic status.

The report of the Board of Directors clearly evidences the Bank’s business 
activities performed and carried out by the Bank in the financial year 
under appraisal.

In view of the external auditor’s report, we concur with the opinion 
expressed in such report, whereas the documents supporting the said 
financial statements evidence the truly and accurate financial status 
exhibited in the balance sheet dated 31st December, 2024, as well as the 
financial results of the financial year ended 2024.

In view of the above said, we have decided to approve the said financial 
statements and the Report of the Board of Directors.

We also ask all Board of Directors and management to pay close attention 
to the key concerns of the regulatory authorities, as well as the disposal of 
existing non-performing assets, deterioration of potential risky assets, and 
credit risk management in the coming year.

Single Supervisor
CSC & Associates, Certified Public Accountants
(Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)

Macao, 18 March 2025

3. 
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4.	 A SUMMARY OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S 
REPORT

To the shareholders of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) 
Limited
(Incorporated in Macau with limited liability)

The accompanying condensed consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) 
included the condensed consolidated and separate statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2024, and the condensed consolidated and 
separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
condensed consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity, and 
the condensed consolidated and separate statements of cash flows. The 
condensed consolidated and separate financial statements of the Group are 
sourced from the audited consolidated and separate financial statements 
of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024. We have issued 
unqualified opinion in the auditors’ report signed on 18 March 2025 for 
the financial statements that constitute a source of the condensed financial 
statements. These consolidated and separate financial statements and the 
condensed consolidated and separate financial statements do not reflect 
the impact of events that occur after the audit report date.

Since the condensed consolidated and separate financial statements do not 
include all disclosures required by the Financial Reporting Standards of 
Macau SAR, reading of the condensed consolidated and separate financial 
statements cannot replace that of the audited financial statements of the 
Group.

Management’s Responsibility for the Condensed Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of condensed consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with the Financial System 
Act of Macau under the Law No. 13/2023, Article 85 (1).

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these condensed 
consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on 
Auditing 810 - Engagements to Report on Condensed Financial Statements 
set out in the Standards on Auditing.

4.  

13/2023
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4.	 A SUMMARY OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S 
REPORT (continued)

Opinion

In our opinion, the condensed consolidated and separate financial 
statements sourced from the audited financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 were prepared in accordance with 
the Financial System Act of Macau under the Law No. 13/2023, Article 
85 (1). The condensed consolidated and separate financial statements are 
consistent with the audited financial statements in all material respects.

CHAN Wai
Certified Public Accountant
Ernst & Young

Macau
11April 2025

5.	 A LIST OF THE INSTITUTIONS IN WHICH THEY 
HAVE HOLDINGS IN EXCESS OF 5% IN THE SHARE 
CAPITAL, OR OVER 5% OF THEIR OWN FUNDS, 
WITH AN INDICATION OF THE RESPECTIVE 
PERCENTAGE

ICBC (Macau) Capital Limited	 100%
ICBC (Macau) Pension Fund Management 	 100%
  Company Limited
Seng Heng Development Company Limited	 100%
  (Registered and established in Hong Kong)
Luen Fung Hang Insurance Company Limited	 6%

6.	 LIST OF THE SHAREHOLDERS WITH QUALIFYING 
HOLDINGS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Mr. Huen Wing Ming, Patrick

4.  
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7.	 NAME OF THE MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY 
BOARDS

Board of Directors

Ms. Gao Ming Chairman, Executive Director
Mr. Niu Jian Jun Vice-Chairman, Chief Executive 

  Officer & Executive Director
Mr. Huen Wing Ming, Patrick Vice-Chairman & 

  Executive Director
Ms. Ho Teng Iat Director
Mr. Zheng Jian Feng Director
Mr. Hong Gui Lu Director
Mr. Zhang Wei Feng Director
  (Resigned on 21 May 2024)

Board of the General Meeting

Ms. Gao Ming Chairman
Mr. Li Ying Ren Secretary
  (Appointed on 26 September, 2024)
Ms. Chen Cui Ping Secretary
  (Resigned on 26 September, 2024)

Single Supervisor

CSC & Associates, Certified Public Accountants
  (Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)
  (The board of supervisors was 
    reorganized and established in 
    accordance to laws and regulations 
    on 28 October, 2024 )

Board of Supervisors

CSC & Associates, Certified Public 
  Accountant

Chairman

  (Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)
  (Appointed on 28 October, 2024)

Mr. Hao Rui Ming Supervisor
  (Appointed on 28 October, 2024)

Ms. Sun Shao Yi Supervisor
  (Appointed on 28 October, 2024)

Company Secretary

Mr. Li Ying Ren Secretary
  (Appointed on 26 September, 2024)

Ms. Chen Cui Ping Secretary
  (Resigned on 26 September, 2024)

7.  
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8.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Bank has established a sound governance structure consisting of “the 
shareholders’ meeting, the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors 
and the senior management”, and conducts operation and management 
in strict accordance with the laws and regulations of Macao, the financial 
laws, and the regulatory guidelines issued by the Monetary Authority of 
Macao.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for leading and supervising the Bank 
and is accountable for the Bank’s operational and financial soundness. 
During the year, the Board of Directors of the Bank maintained a stable 
structure. All members of the Board of Directors possess the expertise 
and experience necessary for supporting the Bank’s business development. 
The Board of Directors of the Bank has special committees including the 
Strategic Development Committee, the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee. 
These committees are responsible for monitoring the Bank’s management 
and operations. Each committee has clear terms of reference, in order to 
ensure that it can exercise its functions and make recommendations and 
report decisions to the Board of Directors as appropriate.

Board of Supervisors

The Board of Supervisors conducts supervision over the Bank in 
accordance with Macao’s laws and regulations, regulatory guidelines and 
the Bank’s Articles of Association, safeguards the legitimate rights and 
interests of the Bank in accordance with the law, and is accountable to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting. Its responsibilities mainly include supervising the 
Bank’s management, ensuring that the Bank complies with the pertinent 
laws and the Articles of Association, reviewing all annual accounting 
documents and books, confirming whether the valuation standards for 
corporate property are appropriate, and issuing opinions on the annual 
report delivered by the Board of Directors.

Delegation of the Powers of the Board of Directors

Management Committee

The Management Committee is set up under the authorization of the 
Board of Directors. As a standing deliberative body of the management, 
the Management Committee is responsible for the overall operations of the 
Bank and its subsidiaries as well as for making decisions on major matters 
within its term of reference. It establishes several special committees, 
which are the Asset & Liability Management Committee, the Compliance 
Anti-Money Laundering & Combating Financing of Terrorism Committee, 
the Credit and Investment Approval Committee, the Risk Management 
and Internal Control Committee, the FinTech and Digital Development 
Committee, and Green Finance (ESG and Sustainable Finance) Committee. 
Each committee assists the management in making decisions in accordance 
with its work guidelines and rules.

8. 

ESG
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8.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

Specifically:

Asset & Liability Management Committee

The Asset & Liability Management Committee is responsible for studying, 
discussing, and deciding on major matters related to asset and liability 
management. It is responsible for deliberating on the matters related to 
asset and liability management, liquidity management, capital management, 
interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB), and exchange rate risk, 
among others, and making proposed work arrangements.

Compliance Anti-Money Laundering & Combating Financing of 
Terrorism Committee

The Compliance Anti-Money Laundering & Combating Financing of 
Terrorism Committee is responsible for promoting the Bank to establish 
an internal control and compliance management mechanism that can 
meet local regulatory requirements and the policy requirements of the 
Group and conform to the reality, so as to formulate and communicate 
on compliance policies and oversee the compliance management matters 
of the Bank; deliberating on, establishing, and maintaining risk control 
policies and provisions on anti-money laundering (AML) and combating 
the financing of terrorism (CTF), so as to ensure the AML work systems, 
guidelines, and regulatory measures are appropriate and effective.

Credit and Investment Approval Committee

The Credit and Investment Approval Committee is responsible for 
deliberating on all types of financing, investment, and other related 
businesses that are subject to the collective credit risk review procedures. 
The committee is composed of senior management members and the 
heads in charge of relevant departments to ensure the committee’s effective 
operation.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management and Internal Control Committee is responsible 
for measuring and monitoring different types of risks of the Bank at the 
operational and management levels, managing all types of risks in a holistic 
and comprehensive manner, ensuring all risks can be maintained within 
the risk indicators set by the Bank and all risk management procedures 
can comply with regulatory requirements. The committee has special risk 
teams in charge of monitoring, assessment and management of various 
risks.

8. 
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9.	 OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES OTHER THAN 
DERIVATIVES TRANSACTIONS

9.  

MOP’000
   

Values received for safe keeping 83,616,463

Bills for collection 519,710

Collateral 347,046,407

Guarantee on account of customers 8,057,787

Letters of credit outstanding 330,994

Bills & acceptance available for discount 95,810

Other memorandum items 11,672,497

Undrawn credit facilities 57,470,511
   

Total 508,810,179
   

10. 

MOP’000

Nominal value Fair value

Credit risk
weighted

amount
     

Exchange rate contracts 77,269,041 160,056 946,063
Interest rate contracts 2,081,540 6,665 6,528
Other contracts 337,800 78 269

     

10.	 DERIVATIVES TRANSACTIONS
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

11.1	 Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated and the Bank’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements as set out in Law No. 
13/2023 and Macau Financial Reporting Standards under the Order 
of the Secretary for Economy and Finance No.44/2020 (“Macau 
Financial Reporting Standards” or “MFRS”).

These consolidated and the Bank’s financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), 
derivative financial instruments, financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), precious 
metal receivables and payables which have been measured at fair 
value.

The preparation of the consolidated and the Bank’s financial 
statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The consolidated and the Bank’s financial statements are presented 
in Macau Patacas (“MOP”), and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (MOP’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the Bank and the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured 
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Bank. Control is 
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing 
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee).

11. 

11.1 

13/2023
44/2020 MFRS

(MOP)
MOP’000

2024 12 31
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights 
results in control. When the Bank has less than a majority of the 
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including:

(a)	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of 
the investee;

(b)	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the Bank, using consistent accounting 
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income 
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to 
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets 
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts 
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the 
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling 
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the 
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or 
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit 
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as 
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities.

11. 

11.1 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Issued but not yet effective new Macau Financial Reporting 
Standards

Pursuant to Article 7(1) of Law No. 20/2020, Regulations on the 
Profession and Practice of Accountants, the Accounting Standards 
of the Macau Special Administrative Region (hereinafter referred 
to as the “New Macau Financial Reporting Standards”), was 
promulgated by the Professional Committee of Accountants on 19 
December 2024 under Notice No. 2/2024/CPC. The New Macau 
Financial Reporting Standards shall be mandatorily applied to the 
preparation of financial statements for the financial years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2028. Early adoption of the New Macau 
Financial Reporting Standards is permitted for the financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

The New Macau Financial Reporting Standards consists of the 
complete set of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
included in the 2021 edition of the Bound Volume of International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. The New Macau Financial Reporting 
Standards includes new standards, such as IFRS 16 – Leases, IFRS 
17 – Insurance Contracts, and amendments to existing standards.

The Group and the Bank has not early adopted the New Macau 
Financial Reporting Standards, which has been issued but are not 
yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to 
apply the New Macau Financial Reporting Standards when they 
become effective.

The Group and the Bank has not commenced an assessment of 
the impact of the New Macau Financial Reporting Standards and 
therefore is not yet in a position to state whether the New Macau 
Financial Reporting Standards would have a significant impact on 
its results of operations and financial position.

11. 

11.1 

20/2020
7 1

2024 12 19
2/2024/CPC

2028 1 1

2026 1 1

2021

2021
16

  17   
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group 
controls an entity when it has power over the investee, 
is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing 
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held 
by the Group and other parties) are considered.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Bank’s profit 
or loss to the extent of dividends received and receivable. 
The Bank’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses unless they are held for sale.

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An 
impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting 
period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment 
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount 
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an 
impairment loss is credited to the profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises.

11. 

11.2 

(a) 

(b) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)	 Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is 
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel 
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

or

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the 
same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to 
the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the 
other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same 
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity 
and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan 
for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by 
a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of the 
key management personnel of the entity (or of 
a parent of the entity).

11. 

11.2 

(c) 

(1) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(2) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (1)

(vii) (1)
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)	 Related parties (continued)

(2) (continued)

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of 
which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the 
Group’s parent.

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The 
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises 
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or loss 
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major 
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of a property, plant 
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific 
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write 
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal 
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the
lease term and 

50 years
Furniture and fixtures 1 to 10 years
Motor vehicles and equipment 4 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is 
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the 
depreciation method are reviewed, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

11. 

11.2 

(c) 

(2) 

(viii) 

(d) 

 50
 

 1 10
 4 10
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or 
retirement of the asset is determined as the difference 
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the relevant asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(e)	 Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held 
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather 
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services 
or for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary 
course of business. The Group adopts the cost method for 
its investment properties in which the properties are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to 
write off the cost of each investment property to its residual 
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates 
used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and Buildings 50 years

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an 
investment property are recognised in the profit or loss in 
the period of the retirement or disposal.

(f)	 Leases

The Group as a lessee

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of 
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, 
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.

11. 

11.2 

(d) 

(e) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)	 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to 
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing 
costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring 
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered 
as integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on 
a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as 
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is 
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts 
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the 
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct 
costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer 
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net 
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to 
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect 
of the leases.

11. 

11.2 

(f) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)	 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except 
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

(g)	 Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the 
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting 
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component or for which the Group 
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the 
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance 
with the policies set out for note 11.2(t) below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal 
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are 
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

11. 

11.2 

(f) 

(g) 

11.2(t)
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)	 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets 
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether 
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified 
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business 
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified 
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are held within a business model with the objective 
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and 
selling. Financial assets which are not held within the 
aforementioned business models are classified and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade 
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on 
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured 
using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or 
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (debt instruments)

For debt  investments  at  fair  va lue through other 
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange 
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same 
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative 
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

11. 

11.2 

(g) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)	 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments 
designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for 
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled 
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised 
as other operating income in the statement of profit or loss 
when the right of payment has been established, except when 
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part 
of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are 
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments 
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried 
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity 
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to 
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised 
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the 
right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial 
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host 
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a 
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the 
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss. Reassessment occurs if there is a change in the terms of 
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

11. 

11.2 

(g) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)	 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing 
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The 
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is 
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at 
fair value through profit or loss.

(h)	 Derecognition and modification of financial assets

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:

– The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

– The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset.

All the following three conditions are required to meet for 
“pass-through” arrangement: (a) the Group has no obligation 
to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it collects 
equivalent amounts from the original asset; (b) the Group is 
prohibited by the terms of the transfer contract from selling 
or pledging the original asset other than as security to the 
eventual recipients for the obligation to pay them cash flows; 
(c) the Group has an obligation to remit any cash flows it 
collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 
delay.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained 
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and 
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects 
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)	 Derecognition and modification of financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not 
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
profits.

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual 
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, 
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a 
substantial modification from original terms taking into 
account all relevant facts and circumstances including 
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, 
the Group considers the terms are substantially different if 
the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and 
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is beyond 
a threshold different from the discounted present value of 
the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that 
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the 
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value 
of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the 
financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction 
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount 
of the modified financial assets and are amortised over the 
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of 
the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date 
of modification.

11. 

11.2 

(h) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of ECL

The Group recognises impairment allowances for expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model under the current accounting 
policy on the following financial instruments:

– Cash and balances with banks and other financial 
institutions;

– Deposits with monetary authority;

– Placements with other banks;

– Loans and advances;

– Debt securities classified as financial assets at FVOCI;

– Receivables and other assets ;

– Financial assets amortised cost ;

– Financial guarantee contracts; and

– Loan commitments.

Equity instruments classified as financial assets at FVOCI, 
derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, are not subject to the ECL 
assessment.

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses under 
different economic scenarios. ECL is measured as:

Exposure at Default x Probability of Default x Loss Given 
Default

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at 
initial recognition.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

The Group measures impairment allowances for 12-month 
or lifetime ECL using a 3-stage approach as follows:

11. 

11.2 

(i) 

12

Stage Description Impairment Loss
   

1 12
Credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition
12-month ECL

2
Credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition
Lifetime ECL

3
Financial instruments that are considered as credit-impaired Lifetime ECL

AMCM

9

12 12

12

In both years, the Group complies with AMCM requirement 
to maintain regulatory reserve in excess of the Group’s 
impairment allowance for loans and advances. When the 
minimum provision under the relevant AMCM rules is 
higher than the impairment allowance made under the 
Group’s accounting policy which is in accordance with IFRS 9, 
the Group transfers the additionally required amount from 
retained profits to regulatory reserves.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within the 12 months after the reporting date. Life-time ECL 
is the ECL that result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of the financial instrument.

The Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month 
ECL unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which 
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL.

A discount factor considering the effective interest rate is 
used to account for the time value of money in the ECL 
model.

The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost or effort.
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument 
(including a loan commitment) has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of 
default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at 
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial 
recognition. The Group considers the following criteria in 
assess the significant increase in credit risk.

– Notch difference analysis of internal or external rating 
change;

– Days past due (“DPD”) of 30 days (60 DPD for credit 
card portfolio*);

– Loan classification of Special Mention loan portfolio; 
or

– Stage consistency within the group for the borrower 
loan grading (for non-retail portfolio only).

*	 For credit card portfolio, 30 days presumption for increase in 
credit risk was rebutted based on the Group’s consideration 
on its historical hit rate results as compare with the market 
practice.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee, the date 
of initial recognition for the purpose of assessing ECL is 
considered to be the date that the Group becomes a party 
to the irrevocable commitment. In assessing whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition of a loan commitment and financial guarantee, 
the Group considers changes in the risk of default occurring 
on the loan to which the loan commitment and financial 
guarantee relates.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Default

Financia l  inst r uments  with  any  of  the  fol lowing 
characteristics will be classified as stage 3:

– DPD of 90 days;

– Loan classification of Substandard, Doubtful and Loss 
portfolio; or

– Exposures in the non-performing loan list including 
cross default situation.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the 
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and credit-
impaired is performed on either an individual basis or a 
collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a 
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status 
and credit risk ratings.

ECL is re-measured at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial 
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised 
as a charge or reversal of impairment in profit or loss. 
The Group recognises an impairment loss reversal for all 
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to 
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, 
except for financial assets at FVOCI, for which the loss 
allowance is recognised in profit or loss without adjustment 
to their carrying amount at fair value.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated and 
the Bank’s statements of financial position

Loss allowances for ECL is presented in the statement of 
financial position as follows:

– financial assets except for those measured at FVOCI: 
as a deduction from the gross carrying amount;

– loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: 
generally, as a provision;

– financial assets at FVOCI: no loss allowance is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as 
the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss allowance is disclosed separately 
and is recognised in the profit or loss.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off with related impairment 
allowances (either partially or in full) when there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery. This is the case when the 
Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(j)	 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the 
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument.

For financial guarantee contracts, they are initially recognised 
as financial liabilities at fair value on the date the guarantee 
was given and subsequently measured at the higher of (i) the 
amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with 
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and (ii) the amount initially 
recognised less, where appropriate, accumulated amortization 
recognised over the life of the guarantee on a straight-line 
basis.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)	 Financial liabilities

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss or at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value adjusted for transaction costs in case of financial 
liabilities not measured at FVTPL.

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
includes financial liabilities held for trading and other 
financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading 
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in 
the near term. This category includes derivative 
financial instruments entered into by the Group that 
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are 
also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains 
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised 
in the profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss 
recognised in the profit or loss includes any interest 
charged on these financial liabilities.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)	 Financial liabilities (continued)

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement  (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition 
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated 
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the 
criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from 
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in 
other comprehensive income with no subsequent 
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The 
net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged 
on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities at amortised cost 
include deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, deposits from customers, debts and 
certificates of deposit issued and other financial 
liabilities.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at 
amortised cost are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and include 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 
included in interest expenses in the profit or loss.

(l)	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligations 
under the liability are discharged, cancelled, or has expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the profit or loss.

11. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(m)	 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in 
active markets is determined with reference to quoted market 
prices or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for 
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no 
active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent 
arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current 
market value of another instrument which is substantially the 
same, a discounted cash flow analysis, and other valuation 
models.

(n)	 Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group enters derivative financial instruments, such as 
currency swaps, forward currency contracts and interest 
rate swaps based on customer demands, or to hedge its 
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. 
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. 
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of 
derivatives are taken directly to the profit or loss, except 
where the derivatives are qualified for hedge accounting (note 
11.2(o)), in which case recognition of any resultant gain or 
loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated 
by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts 
with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate 
swap contracts is determined using a discount cash flow 
analysis by taking the present value of the expected cash 
flows discounted at appropriate discount rates reflecting fair 
value.

11. 

11.2 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o)	 Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging 
instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. On initial 
designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged 
items, including the risk management objective and strategy 
in undertaking the hedge. Furthermore, at the inception of 
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents 
whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged 
item attributable to the hedged risk.

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers 
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging 
relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness 
requirements:

– there is an economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument;

– the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value 
changes that result from that economic relationship; 
and

– the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same 
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of 
the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to 
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as hedging instrument as 
hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability or highly probable forecast transaction 
that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised 
and presented in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. 
Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the 
derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The 
amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve is 
reclassified from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment in the same period as the hedged 
cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for cash 
flow hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, 
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

11. 

11.2 

(o) 

– 

– 

– 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o)	 Hedge accounting (continued)

Fair value hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument 
in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset 
or liability or a firm commitment that could affect profit or 
loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. The change in fair value of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognised 
in profit or loss. If the hedged item would otherwise be 
measured at cost or amortised cost, then its carrying amount 
is adjusted accordingly. Any adjustment up to the point of 
discontinuation to a hedged item for which the effective 
interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss as part 
of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over its 
remaining life.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for fair 
value hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, 
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

On hedge discontinuation, any hedging adjustment made 
previously to a hedged financial instrument for which the 
effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or 
loss by adjusting the effective interest rate of the hedged item 
from the date on which amortisation begins. If the hedged 
item is derecognised, then the adjustment is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss when the item is derecognized.

(p)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise (a) cash, which 
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding 
bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that 
result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of 
cash; and (b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three months or 
less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents 
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments rather than for investment or other purpose.

11. 

11.2 

(o) 

(p) 

(a)

(b)
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)	 Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value 
of money is material).

(r)	 Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the Group’s control, or 
a present obligation arising from past events that is not 
recognised either because an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
but is not probable or the amount of obligation cannot be 
measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but 
is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When 
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that 
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(s)	 Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
is recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that 
they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which 
case the relevant amounts are recognised directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration 
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in 
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible 
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

11. 

11.2 

(q) 

(r) 

(s) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(s)	 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

– when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

– in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, the carried forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

– when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

– in respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

11. 

11.2 

(s) 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(s)	 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if 
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(t)	 Revenue recognition

The Group adopts five step process for recognising revenue 
from contracts with customers

1. Identify the contract with the customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance 
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services 
underlying the particular performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service that is distinct 
or a series of distinct services that are substantially the same.

11. 

11.2 

(s) 

(t) 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)	 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised 
over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of 
the following criteria is met:

– the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

– the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset 
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

– the Group’s performance does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the 
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

(i)	 Interest income and expense

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/
receivables subsequently measured at FVOCI. Interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, 
except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income 
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the 
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired.

11. 

11.2 

(t) 

– 

– 

– 

(i) 



56

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)	 Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii)	 Fee and commission income

Income from service is recognised when the Group 
fulfils its performance obligation, either over time or 
at a point in time on a basis when a customer obtains 
control of the service.

Fee and commission income from loans and advances 
are either recognised over time at a fixed or variable 
price on a systematic basis over the life of the 
agreement when the contract requires services to be 
provided over time, or recognised at a point in time 
when the related performance obligation has been 
fulfilled; fee and commission income from security, 
insurance, other agency and trustee services fees are 
recognised as revenue at a point in time when the 
securities or insurance brokerage, other agency and 
trustee services are rendered and the performance 
obligations are satisf ied; credit card fees are 
recognised at a point in time when card issuance or 
consumption services completed and the performance 
obligations are satisfied; fee and commission income 
from others are either recognised over time at a fixed 
or variable price on a systematic basis over the life 
of the agreement when the contract requires services 
to be provided over time, or recognised at a point in 
time when the related services are rendered and the 
performance obligations are satisfied.

(iii)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive the payment is established.

(iv)	 Rental income

Rental income is recognised over time on a time 
proportion basis over the lease terms.

(v)	 Net trading income

Results arising from trading activities include all 
gains and losses from changes in fair value, including 
related interest income or expense and dividend 
incomes for financial assets and financial liabilities 
held for trading, except for those designated in cash 
flow hedging relationships.

11. 

11.2 

(t) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 
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11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(u)	 Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement 
benefits scheme for all of its employees, including key 
management personnel. Contributions are made based on a 
percentage of the participating employees’ basic salaries and 
are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

(v)	 Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Macau Patacas 
(“MOP”), which is the Bank’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the 
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their 
respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. All differences arising on settlement or translation of 
monetary items are taken to the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with 
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of 
the non-monetary item.

The functional currencies of one overseas subsidiary and one 
overseas representative office are currencies other than the 
MOP. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and 
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Bank at the exchange rates prevailing at 
the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are 
translated into MOP at the average exchange rates for the 
period.

11. 

11.2 

(u) 

(v) 



58

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

11.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(v)	 Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are accumulated in the 
foreign exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, 
the amount recognised in the foreign exchange reserve 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 
the profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
the cash flows of overseas entities are translated into MOP 
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. 
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas entities which 
arise throughout the period are translated into MOP at the 
average exchange rates for the period.

12.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

12.1	 The policy for lending to related parties

Connected transactions of the Bank should be in line with the 
principles of honesty, credibility and equity. We manage connected 
transactions in accordance with the relevant regulations of local 
supervisor and Parent Company and conduct information disclosure 
and external reporting as required. Connected transactions should 
be approved by top management level or higher level credit 
authority as credit committee regarding the internal facility granting 
procedure.

11. 

11.2 

(v) 

12. 

12.1 
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12.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

12.2	 Qualitative disclosure

Listed out below is a summary of the balances and transactions 
entered into during the ordinary course of business with the 
ultimate holding company, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries. The 
activities were priced at the relevant market rates at the time of 
transactions.

12. 

12.2 

MOP’000

*
Ultimate 

holding 
company

Fellow 
subsidiaries

Fellow 
subsidiaries Subsidiaries

Key 
management 

personnel*

The Group 
and the Bank The Group The Bank The Bank

The Group 
and the Bank

       

Interest income 1,477,219 188,657 187,523 – 2,908
Interest expense 1,597,522 15,780 15,780 1,629 10,854
Other operating income 5,100 – – – –
Other operating expenses 1,769 101,461 101,461 – –
Fee and commission 

income – – – 12,502 –
Fee and commission 

expenses – 17,291 17,291 1 –
Cash and balances with 

banks and other 
financial institutions 9,892,120 246,178 226,461 – –

Placements with other 
banks 24,931,538 1,696,219 1,696,219 – –

Loans and advances – 3,814,296 3,814,296 – 86,181
Receivables and other 

assets 299,200 253,116 253,036 50,647 –
Derivative financial assets 1,110,450 36,586 36,586 – –
Deposits from banks 

and other financial 
institutions 57,940,983 655 655 – –

Deposits from customers – – – 168,337 286,345
Deposits from other 

customers – 158,404 158,404 – –
Other liabilities 88,848 155,854 155,854 812 –

Derivative financial 
liabilities 100,077 47,225 47,225 – –

       

(* (*The Bank complies with AMCM disclosure requirement to disclose.)
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13.	 CAPITAL

13.1	 Qualitative disclosure:

(a)	 Summary of the main features of all capital instruments:

According to the latest provisions of the AMCM Guidelines 
on Composition of Own Funds, the Group’s capital is mainly 
composed of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital, of which Tier1 
capital includes Common equity tier 1 capital (CET1) and 
Additional tier 1 capital (AT1).

Main Capital items explained as follow:

Common equity tier 1 capital (CET1): Mainly includes 
common shares, share premium, retained earnings, 
accumulated other comprehensive income, other disclosed 
reserves and Common equity tier 1 capital deductions;

Retained earnings: Mainly includes profits and losses brought 
forward from previous years except for any profits (positive 
figures) without an external audit. The current year’s interim 
profit may also be included provided the conditions have 
been satisfied. For the current year’s interim loss incurred, 
it should be immediately included even in the absence of an 
external audit;

Accumulated other comprehensive income: Includes OCI 
brought forward from previous years except for any positive 
OCI without an external audit. The current year’s positive 
interim OCI may also be included provided the applicable 
conditions have been satisfied. While the current year’s 
negative interim OCI incurred should be immediately 
included even in the absence of an external audit;

Other disclosed reserves: Includes legal reserve, other earned 
surplus, specific regulatory reserves and general regulatory 
reserves required by the AMCM;

Additional tier 1 capital: Mainly refers to qualifying 
Additional tier 1 capital instruments;

Tier 2 capital: Mainly includes eligible accumulated 
provisions for expected credit loss (ECL) in stage 1 & 2 
and general regulatory reserves required by the AMCM, 
Qualifying Tier 2 capital instruments.

13. 

13.1 

(a) 
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13.	 CAPITAL (continued)

13.1	 Qualitative disclosure: (continued)

(b)	 Capital management:

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management 
are to ensure that the Group complies with capital 
requirements of regulatory authorities, and to support its 
business development. While actively managing its capital 
conditions, the Group is committed to improving the 
efficiency of its capital use and enhancing shareholder value.

The Group makes adjustments to its capital management 
policy in the light of changes in economic conditions in 
the market and risk characteristics. With a sound capital 
management mechanism, the Group regularly measures, 
monitors and manages changes in capital and risk weighted 
assets to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements 
while improving the return on capital. The Group formulates 
a capital management plan on an annual basis, evaluates 
the reasonable capital level and structure for the future, and 
replenishes capital through different channels in a well-timed 
manner to ensure its long-term sustainable development.

During the year, the Group has complied with all of the 
capital requirements imposed by the AMCM.

13. 

13.1 

(b) 
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13.	 CAPITAL (continued)

13.2	 Quantitative disclosure:

13. 

13.2 

MOP’000, %
   

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 30,552,400
Qualifying common shares 588,920
Share premium from qualifying common shares 5,885,733
Retained earnings 24,012,198
Accumulated other comprehensive income (563,258)
Other disclosed reserves 1,215,310

Deduction
Deferred tax assets, net of associated deferred tax liabilities 38,619
Cash flow hedge reserve 3,884
Regulatory reserves (including general and specific regulatory reserves) 544,000

Additional Tier 1 Capital –
Tier 1 Capital 30,552,400
Tier 2 Capital 1,548,914

Eligible accumulated provisions for expected credit loss in stage 1 & 2 and general 
regulatory reserves required by the AMCM

1,548,914
Own funds 32,101,314

 Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Bank level) 13.74%
 Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Bank level) 13.74%

 Total capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Bank level) 14.45%
 Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Group level) 13.90%

 Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Group level) 13.90%
 Total capital ratio (ICBC (Macau) – Group level) 14.61%

 
  

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC – Group level)
14.10%

 Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC – Group level) 15.36%
 Total capital ratio (ICBC – Group level) 19.39%

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%
Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%
Total capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%  
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14.	 CREDIT RISK

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure

(a)	 Definition and scope

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a borrower or 
counterparty’s failure to perform its obligations. Operational 
failures which result in unauthorised or inappropriate 
guarantees, financial commitments or investments by the 
Group may also give rise to credit risk. The Group’s credit 
risk is mainly attributable to its loans, due from banks and 
other financial institutions and financial investments. The 
Group is also exposed to credit risk in other areas. The credit 
risk arising from derivative financial instruments is limited 
to derivative financial assets recorded in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. In addition, the Group 
provides guarantees for customers and may therefore be 
required to make payments on their behalf. These payments 
would be recovered from customers in accordance with the 
terms of the agreement. Therefore, the Group assumes a 
credit risk similar to that arising from loans and applies the 
same risk control procedures and policies to reduce risks.

(b)	 Credit risk assessment method

The Group classifies financial instruments into three stages 
and makes provisions for expected credit loss accordingly, 
depending on whether credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly and whether the 
assets have become credit-impaired since initial recognition. 
Refer to note 11.2(i) Impairment of financial assets for the 
definition of the three stages.

In addition, the Group adopts loan grading criteria which 
divide credit assets into five categories with reference to the 
AMCM’s guidelines, as below:

14. 

14.1 

(a) 

(b) 

11.2(i)
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14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk assessment method (continued)

Loan classification

• Pass: loans where borrowers are current in meeting 
commitments and full repayment of interest and 
principal is not in doubt;

• Special  Mention:  loans where borrowers are 
experiencing difficulties which may threaten the 
institution’s position;

• Substandard: loans where borrowers are displaying 
a definable weakness that is likely to jeopardise 
repayment;

• Doubtful: loans where collection in full is improbable 
and the institution expects to sustain a loss of 
principal and/or interest after taking account of the 
net realisable value of security;

• Loss: loans which are considered uncollectible after 
exhausting all collection efforts such as realisation of 
collateral, institution of legal proceedings, etc.

(c)	 Significant increase in credit risk

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk and 
whether the assets have become credit-impaired since 
initial recognition is performed at least on a monthly basis 
for financial instruments held by the Group. The Group 
takes into consideration all reasonable and supportable 
information (including forward-looking information) that 
reflects significant change in credit risk for the purposes of 
classifying financial instruments. The main considerations 
are regulatory and operating environment, internal and 
external credit risk rating, debt-servicing capacity, operating 
capabilities, contractual terms, and repayment records. The 
Group compares the risk of default of a single financial 
instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments with 
similar credit risk characteristics as at the end of the 
reporting period and its risk of default at the date of initial 
recognition to determine changes in the risk of default over 
the expected lifetime of a financial instrument or a portfolio 
of financial instruments. In determining whether credit risk 
of a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group considers factors indicating 
whether the probability of default has risen sharply, whether 
the financial instrument has been past due for more than 30 
days, whether the market price has been falling continuously 
and other indicators.

14. 

14.1 

(b) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

(c) 

30
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14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(d)	 Parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

ECL for a financial instrument is measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL depending on 
whether a significant increase in credit risk on that financial 
instrument has occurred since initial recognition. The loss 
allowance for loans and advances to customers, other than 
those corporate loans and advance to customers which 
are credit-impaired, is measured using the risk parameters 
method. The key parameters include Probability of Default 
(“PD”), Loss Given Default (“LGD”), and Exposure at 
Default (“EAD”), considering the time value of money.

PD is the possibility that a customer will default on its 
obligation within a certain period of time in light of forward-
looking information. The Group’s PD is adjusted based on 
the results of the Internal Ratings-Based Approach and 
taking the forward-looking information into account and 
deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect the debtor’s 
point-in-time PD under the current macro-economic 
environment.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. 
The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the history 
of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties, 
taking into account forward-looking economic assumptions 
where relevant. The LGD models consider the structure, 
collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and 
recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial 
asset.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of 
a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current 
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the 
current amount allowed under the contract and arising 
from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its 
gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending 
commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that 
may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based 
on historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. For 
financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the 
guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee becomes 
payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by 
modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various 
points in time using scenario and statistical techniques.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation, such as 
how the PDs and LGDs of different maturity profiles change 
are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the 
Group.

There have been no significant changes in estimation 
techniques or significant assumptions adopted in ECL 
calculation during the year.

14. 

14.1 

(d) 

12

(PD) (LGD)
(EAD)
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14. 

14.1 

(d) 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

(e) 

70% 2023 70%

15% 15% 2023 15% 15%

14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(d)	 Parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

The impairment loss on corporate loans and advance to 
customers is measured/calculated based on discounted cash 
flow method. The amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment 
is recognised through an allowance account in the profit or 
loss.

In determining allowances on an individual basis, the 
following factors are considered:

1.	 The sustainability of the borrower’s business plan;

2.	 The borrower’s ability to improve performance when 
a financial difficulty arises;

3.	 The estimated recoverable cash flows from projects 
and liquidation;

4.	 The availability of other financial support and the 
realisable value of collateral; and

5.	 The timing of the expected cash flows.

The Group incorporates management overlay to address 
model ineffectiveness prospectively when necessary.

(e)	 Forward-looking information contained in ECL

The Group incorporates forward-looking information 
into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of 
an instrument has increased significantly since its initial 
recognition and the measurement of ECL.

The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, 
which is the median scenario assigned a 70% (2023: 70%) 
probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one 
upside and one downside, assigned a 15% and 15% (2023: 
15% and 15%) probability of occurring respectively.
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14. 

14.1 

(e) 

2024 12 31

2024 2.8%
1.8%

14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(e)	 Forward-looking information contained in ECL (continued)

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of 
credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial 
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has 
estimated relationships between macro-economic variables 
and credit risk and credit losses. Hong Kong unemployment 
rate, Macau investment component in Macau GDP, Macau 
unemployment rate, and China GDP differences are 
considered as the key drivers of credit risk. The impact of 
these economic variables on the PD and LGD has been 
determined by performing statistical regression analysis to 
understand the correlations among the historical changes 
of the economic variables, PD and LGD. Forecasts of these 
economic variables are carried out at least semi-annually 
by the Group that provide the best estimate view of the 
economy over the next year.

When calculating the weighted average ECL provision, the 
Group determines the optimistic, neutral and pessimistic 
scenarios and their weightings through a combination of 
macro-statistical analysis and expert judgment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has taken into account 
different macro-economic scenarios, and made forward-
looking forecasts of macro-economic indicators. Of which, 
the year-on-year Hong Kong and Macau unemployment 
rates used to estimate ECL are 2.8% and 1.8%, respectively, 
in the neutral scenario for 2024.

However, for credit card facilities that include both a loan 
and an undrawn commitment component, the Group 
measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum 
contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability to 
demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment 
does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to the 
contractual notice period. These facilities do not have a 
fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a 
collective basis. The Group can cancel them with immediate 
effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal 
day-to-day management, but only when the Group becomes 
aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This 
longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk 
management actions that the Group expects to take, and that 
serve to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, 
cancellation of the facility and/or turning the outstanding 
balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms.



68

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

二零二四年度財務訊息披露
Financial Information Disclosure 2024

中國工商銀行（澳門）股份有限公司 INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (MACAU) LIMITED

004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM
Financial Information Disclosure (In Accordance with 004/B/2024-DSB/AMCM)

14. 

14.1 

(f)  

14.2 

14.2.1 

10%

a. 

MOP’000

Region

Government 
or Public 

Sector
Financial 

Institution
Other 

Company Total
      

Macau 236,088 7,553,503 134,958,930 142,748,521
China – 916,145 10,776,498 11,692,643
Hong Kong – 5,595,810 45,140,753 50,736,563
Other 3,789,861 – 5,218,947 9,008,808

      

14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(f)	 Discussion of the credit institution’s credit risk management 
policy

The Bank has a credit risk management process to measure, 
monitor and control credit risk. The lending authority of the 
Bank consists of the credit committee, general manager, chief 
executive officer and directors who have extensive banking 
experience. The hierarchy of credit authority which approves 
credit is in compliance with the Bank’s credit policy; 
exposures are monitored against credit limits and other 
control limits (such as large exposures and concentration 
limits); segregation of duties in key credit functions is in 
place to ensure separate credit control and monitoring.

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure

14.2.1	 Geographic distribution of exposures

The following table sets out information of the credit 
exposures broken down in significant geographical segment 
by loans and commitment, debt securities and financial 
derivatives. A significant geographical segment means an 
area to which not less than 10% of the relevant type of credit 
exposures.

a.	 Loans and commitment
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c.	 Financial derivatives

14. 

14.2 

14.2.1 

b. 

MOP’000

Region

Government 
or Public 

Sector
Financial 

Institution
Other 

Company Total
      

Macau 22,150,000 799,549 355,557 23,305,106
China 2,673,849 19,400,209 31,571,800 53,645,858
Hong Kong 4,108,272 7,821,032 2,220,079 14,149,383
Other – 9,472,290 723,823 10,196,113

      

c. 

MOP’000

Region

Government 
or Public 

Sector
Financial 

Institution
Other 

Company Total
      

Macau 2,481 395,336 (25,715) 372,102
China – 613,907 – 613,907
Hong Kong – (431,261) (396,012) (827,273)
Other – 8,063 – 8,063

      

d.  

MOP’000

Expected Credit Loss

Region
Gross 

Amount
Impaired 
Amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

       

Macau 112,693,003 9,087,555 65,500 430,735 2,735,562
China 11,570,845 1,225,515 32,058 66,619 1,062,743
Hong Kong 25,187,198 3,717,683 16,478 340,059 2,531,369
Other 7,264,978 224,050 1,296 52,107 234,374

       

14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

14.2.1	 Geographic distribution of exposures (continued)

b.	 Debt securities

d.	 Geographic distribution of exposures analysis of loan 
and advances
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14. 

14.2 

14.2.2 

Expected Credit Loss

Industry
Gross 

Amount
Impaired 
Amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

       

Agriculture and fisheries – – – – –
Mining industries 755,460 – 203 – –
Manufacturing industries 1,257,812 70,953 1,080 – 51,858
Electricity, gas and water 3,448,155 – 2,743 – –
Construction and public works 17,342,754 4,387,827 23,209 179,686 3,438,038
Wholesale and retail trade 3,850,165 479,102 4,034 37,649 248,220

 Restaurants, hotels and similar
5,840,007 177,138 12,644 18,175 22,970

Transport, warehousing and communications 193,709 – 410 – –
Non-monetary financial institutions 8,600,688 – 733 – –
Gaming – – – – –
Exhibition and conference 1,437 – 7 – –
Education 16,192 – 56 – –
Information technology 4,925,701 84,129 4,949 – 86,944
Other industries 51,315,271 7,605,719 55,073 610,021 1,933,931
Personal loans 59,168,673 1,449,935 10,191 43,989 782,087

       

14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

14.2.2	 Industry distribution of exposures
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14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

14.2.3	 Ageing analysis of past due exposures

a.	 Loans and advances to customers

14. 

14.2 

14.2.3 

a. 

MOP’000, %

 

Overdue periods
Past 

due loans

Percentage 
of total loan 

and advances

Real 
guarantee 

value

Expected 
credit loss 

– Stage 3
      

3 6 3 to 6 months 628,068 0.40% 941,103 76,425
6 1 6 months to 1 year 2,350,192 1.50% 2,773,845 898,782
1 Over 1 year 11,083,767 7.07% 11,022,814 5,546,200
      

14,062,027 8.97% 14,737,762 6,521,407
      

 

b. 

MOP’000

Overdue periods Past due amount
   

3 6 3 to 6 months –
6 1 6 months to 1 year –
1 Over 1 year 68,086
   

68,086
   

Note:	 During the year, the Bank did not have any overdue 
loans and advances to bank.

b.	 Debt securities
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14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

14.2.4	 Credit quality analysis under regulatory asset

a.	 Loan and advances to banks

14. 

14.2 

14.2.4 

a. 

MOP’000

Expected credit loss

Gross 
amount

Real 
guarantee 

value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
       

Pass 439,753 – 62 – –
Special mention – – – – –
Substandard – – – – –
Doubtful – – – – –
Loss – – – – –

       

439,753 – 62 – –
       

b. 

MOP’000

Expected credit loss

Gross 
amount

Real 
guarantee 

value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
       

Pass 117,811,106 249,117,544 115,315 – –
Special mention 24,650,114 38,119,524 17 889,520 –
Substandard 961,709 1,315,475 – – 177,223
Doubtful 1,962,646 2,709,013 – – 610,029
Loss 11,330,449 11,097,282 – – 5,776,796

       

156,716,024 302,358,838 115,332 889,520 6,564,048
       

b.	 Loan and advances to customers
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14.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

14.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

14.2.4 Credit quality analysis under regulatory asset (continued)

c.	 Debt securities

14. 

14.2 

14.2.4 

c. 

MOP’000

Expected credit loss

Gross 
amount

Real 
guarantee 

value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
       

Pass 101,228,374 – 19,327 – –
Special mention – – – – –
Substandard – – – – –
Doubtful – – – – –
Loss 68,086 – – – 68,086

       

101,296,460 – 19,327 – 68,086
       

15. 

15.1 

2024

Amount

Market risk capital charge for MOP'000
   

Specific risk of debt securities and debt derivatives –
General market risk of debt securities, debt derivatives and interest 

rate exposures 2,741
Equity exposures –
Foreign exchange exposures 13,062
Commodities exposures –
Market risk capital charges for all categories 15,803
Conversion multiplier 12.5
Weighted market risk exposures 197,541

    

15.	 MARKET RISK

15.1	 Qualitative disclosure

A description of its risk management objectives and policies on 
market risk;

The objective of market risk management is to obtain the best 
balance of risk and return of our Bank’s positions arising from 
movements in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and changes 
in credit market condition. Our market risk policies and processes 
include risk limits and exposures management, stress-testing, 
counterparty evaluations and country risks assessment. In 2024, 
we continued to strengthen market risk management by improving 
policies and procedures, risk reporting and limit management.
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16.	 INTEREST RATE RISK IN THE BANKING BOOK

16.1	 Qualitative disclosure

(a)	 The nature of interest rate risk;

The interest rate risk of the banking book refers to the risk of 
loss of the economic value and overall income of the banking 
book due to adverse changes in interest rate levels and term 
structure. Our banking book mainly consists of investments 
denominated in USD, HKD and RMB, therefore our interest 
rate risk arises from fluctuating USD and RMB interest rates, 
which may reduce the values of our investments.

(b)	 Key assumption assumptions regarding loan prepayments 
and behaviour of non-maturity deposits;

When the Bank receives the borrower requirement in 
advance of early partial or fully repayment of the loan and 
customer early withdrawal of deposit in partial or full, the 
Bank requires to assess with prudence on the effect of the 
account’s interest rate risk incurred due to the changes of 
duration of the related asset liability besides complying the 
Bank internal compliance approval process.

(c)	 Frequency of interest rate risk measurement;

Each month we monitor the duration of our bond investment 
to ensure that it is within our policy and risk appetite. Each 
quarter we assess the impact on the capital and economic 
value of the Bank account resulted from interest rate change 
by 200 basis points.

16. 

16.1 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

200
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16.  

16.2 

200

200

MOP’000, %

CNY USD HKD MOP Total
       

200  Changes of the Bank’s economic 
value at a shock of 200 basis 
points 317,112 1,183,936 (83,901) (30,730) 1,386,417

       

* Own funds* 32,101,314
       

 
*

Impact on economic value as % of 
own funds* 4.32%

       

(*

17. 

2024

2024

16.	 INTEREST RATE RISK IN THE BANKING BOOK 
(continued)

16.2	 Quantitative disclosure

Measure the impact on the Bank’s economic value when the interest 
rate moves up and down in parallel of 200 basis points by breaking 
down to currencies, maturity, and interest rate affecting the asset 
liability structure in accordance to local regulatory measurement 
standard.

Analysis of interest rate exposures at a shock of 200 basis points

(* These items are relevant for credit institutions incorporated in Macao 
only.)

17.	 OPERATIONAL RISK

ICBC (Macau) establishes a complete set of operational risk management 
system and implements the “Consolidated Management, Divisional Control 
and Segregated Authorization” control model to ensure the identification, 
assessment, analysis and control of operational risks are effective and 
maintain the level of operational risks within an acceptable range to 
maximize bank value and protect the interests of customers and the public.

As always, both the board of directors and the senior management team 
have placed significant emphasis on the operational risk management. 
In 2024, the Bank enhanced the judgment on the internal and external 
risk environment and the key risk identification and investigation, while 
promoting risk governance in major areas to optimize control measures 
and increasing supervision and accountability.

In 2024, the Bank’s operational risk management is considered properly 
operated with effective risk management measures.
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18. 

18.1 

18.2 

a. 

(in MOP’000 
equivalent)

Currency

Net open position 
excluding option 
contracts long or 

short

Net position in 
option contracts 

long or short

Net open position 
including option 
contracts long or 

short
        

Chinese renminbi (37,150) – (37,150)
Hong Kong dollars 19,334,264 – 19,334,264
US dollars 7,680,474 – 7,680,474
Others 119,302 – 119,302

        

18.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

18.1	 Qualitative disclosure

The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial positions 
and cash flows. The Group has set limits on positions by currency. 
Positions are independently monitored against the approved limits 
on a daily basis.

18.2	 Quantitative disclosure

a.	 The total net long and total net short positions in foreign 
currencies:
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18. 

18.2 

b. 
10%

/HKD (Original CCY) ’000 

Assets Liabilities
    

Spot 13,699,261 –
    

Purchases Sales
    

Forward 5,071,868 –

Net options position, calculated on the basis of the delta-weighted 
position of the relevant option contracts – –

Net long (or net short) position – 18,771,130
    

/USD (Original CCY)  ’000

Assets Liabilities
    

Spot 3,192,677 –
    

Purchases Sales
    

Forward 1 (2,232,079)

Net options position, calculated on the basis of the delta-weighted 
position of the relevant option contracts – –

Net long (or net short) position. – 960,600
    

18.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK (continued)

18.2	 Quantitative disclosure (continued)

b.	 The information in a particular foreign currency whose net 
position (in absolute terms) constitutes not less than 10% of 
the total net position in all foreign currencies:
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19. 

19.1 

1  

2  

3  

4  

5  

6  

7  

8  

9  

19.	 LIQUIDITY RISK

19.1	 Qualitative disclosure

Liquidity risk management refers to the whole process of 
identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling the liquidity 
risk. The Bank shall fully identify, effectively measure, continuously 
monitor and appropriately control the liquidity risk in its business 
processes in a prudent manner, and ensure that there is sufficient 
funds to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under 
normal or stress circumstances.

The Bank measures its liquidity risk tolerance based on its business 
strategies, business characteristics and risk appetite, and thereby 
develops liquidity risk management strategies, policies, and 
procedures. Risk tolerance is designed to measure, by quantitative 
methods, the unmitigated liquidity risk that the Bank can tolerate 
under normal or stress circumstances.

The liquidity risk management strategy specifies the overall mode 
of liquidity risk management and the specific policy for the matters 
of liquidity risk management, including but not limited to:

1)	 Overall liquidity risk management policy;

2)	 Liquidity risk identification, measurement and reporting 
mechanism;

3)	 Liquidity risk management procedures;

4)	 Combination of assets and liabilities;

5)	 Liquidity risk limits;

6)	 Analysis of cash use under normal and stress circumstances;

7)	 Potential factors leading to increased liquidity risk and 
corresponding monitoring processes;

8)	 Stress testing and scenario analysis;

9)	 Contingency plan.
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19. 

19.2 

19.2.1 

MOP’000

1 1 3 3 1 1 3 3

On 
demand

Up to 
1 month

From 1 to 
3 months

From 
3 months 
to 1 year

From 1 
to 3 years

Over 
3 years

Indefinite 
period Total

          

Assets
Loans and advances to customers 7,992,979 14,030,267 8,200,447 22,484,811 47,238,492 56,769,028 – 156,716,024
Cash and balances with and loans and advances to 

banks 14,964,795 41,756,223 45,935,510 4,408,396 – – – 107,064,924
Certificates of deposit held – 4,155,300 1,640,250 7,873,200 – – – 13,668,750
Securities issued by Macao SAR Government and/or 

AMCM – 4,400,000 8,000,000 9,750,000 – – – 22,150,000
Other securities – 923,544 9,008,117 16,521,024 31,175,305 7,781,634 68,086 65,477,710

          

Liabilities
Deposits and balances of banks and financial 

institutions 519,268 35,756,228 21,820,870 1,138,250 799,550 – – 60,034,166
Deposits from public sector entities 3,720 1,640,802 4,942,802 18,416,165 – – – 25,003,489
Deposits from holding and associated companies – – – – – – – –
Deposits from non-bank customers 39,667,185 84,359,918 72,321,592 33,609,603 198,158 – – 230,156,456
Certificates of deposits issued – 8,385,492 9,024,087 – – – – 17,409,579
Other securities issued – – – – 3,276,875 – – 3,276,875

          

 

19.2.2 

/
MOP’000, %

   

a. 5,142,400
Average minimum required amount of cash in hand

b. 6,151,236
Average weekly amount of cash in hand

c. 144,020,326
Average specified liquid assets

d. 54%
Average ratio of specified liquid asset to total basic liabilities

e. 99%
Average one-month liquidity ratio

f. 39%
Average three-month liquidity ratio

   

20. 

21. 

a. 

b. 

19.	 LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

19.2 Quantitative disclosure

19.2.1 Maturity analysis on assets and liabilities

Note:	 The above amount is the gross amount.

19.2.2 Other quantitative information

20.	 OTHER INFORMATION

The Bank has been involved in litigation proceedings in the ordinary 
course of business. Most of these proceedings were initiated by the Bank 
for recovering non-performing loans. The Bank expected that there would 
not be any significant impact resulted from the proceedings on the Bank’s 
business, financial position or operating result.

21.	 NOTES

a.	 Item 1 and 11 are audited among all the items disclosed.

b.	 Unless with specification, all the above data is taken as at 31 
December 2024.
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1. 

(a) 

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

MOP MOP
    

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 67,716 84,269
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 95,237,716 17,999,420
Deferred tax assets 95,501 506,115

    

95,400,933 18,589,804
    

Current assets

Bank balances 66,185,156 79,122,482
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 13,287,972 68,347,936
Financial assets at amortised cost 31,993,355 24,584,637
Receivables and other assets 509,770 431,869
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary 4,590,917 4,149,594
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary 4,590,917 4,149,594

 
116,567,170 176,636,518

  116,567,170 176,636,518

 
Current liabilities

Amount due to immediate holding company 820,585 697,992
Payables and other liabilities 3,884,038 4,237,167
Tax payable 2,118,160 2,063,130

    

6,822,783 6,998,289
    

Net current assets 109,744,387 169,638,229
    

Total assets less current liabilities 205,145,320 188,228,033
    

Net assets 205,145,320 188,228,033
    

Equity

Issued capital 50,000,000 50,000,000
Reserves 155,145,320 138,228,033

    

Total equity 205,145,320 188,228,033
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)	 Statements of financial position
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1. 

(b)  

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP MOP
    

Investment management fee income 18,185,539 17,179,161
Interest income 8,020,641 6,425,402
Advisory fee income – 18,950

    

Operating income 26,206,180 23,623,513
Other operating (expense)/income (1,402,899) 387,869
Operating expenses (9,108,697) (8,739,714)

    

Operating profit before impairment losses 15,694,584 15,271,668

Net reversal/(charge) of impairment allowance 127,521 (44,896)
    

Profit before tax 15,822,105 15,226,772

Income tax expense (1,826,679) (1,455,817)
    

Profit for the year 13,995,426 13,770,955
    

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to profit 

or loss in subsequent periods, net of tax

Change in fair value of debt securities measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 3,011,045 5,386,965

Net change in impairment allowances (89,184) 19,159
    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,921,861 5,406,124
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,917,287 19,177,079
    

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(b)	 Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income
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1. 

(c) 

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Issued
capital

Legal
reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve
Retained
Earnings Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP MOP
       

2023 1 1 At 1 January 2023 50,000,000 23,548,400 (8,990,252) 104,492,806 169,050,954

Profit for the year – – – 13,770,955 13,770,955
Change in fair value of debt 

securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – 5,386,965 – 5,386,965

Net change in impairment 
allowances – – 19,159 – 19,159

Transfer from retained earnings 
to legal reserve – 2,310,000 – (2,310,000) –

       

2023 12 31  
2024 1 1

At 31 December 2023 and 
 1 January 2024 50,000,000 25,858,400 (3,584,128) 115,953,761 188,228,033

       

Profit for the year – – – 13,995,426 13,995, 426
Change in fair value of debt 

securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – 3,011,045 – 3,011,045

Net change in impairment 
allowances – – (89,184) – (89,184)

Transfer from retained earnings 
to legal reserve – 1,380,000 – (1,380,000) –

       

2024 12 31 At 31 December 2024 50,000,000 27,238,400 (662,267) 128,569,187 205,145,320
       

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(c)	 Statement of changes in equity
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1. 

(d) 

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

MOP MOP
    

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax 15,822,105 15,226,772
Adjustment for:

Interest income (8,020,641) (6,425,402)
Depreciation 13,363 15,108
Net losses from disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income – 23,574
Net changes for impairment allowances (127,521) 44,896

    

7,687,306 8,884,948

Changes in receivables and other assets (77,901) 26,032
Changes in amount due from a fellow subsidiary (441,323) (171,905)
Changes in payables and other liabilities (353,128) (377,701)
Changes in amount due to immediate holding company 125,781 (83,206)

    

Cash flows from operations 6,940,735 8,278,168

Interest received 10,397,776 3,929,122
Income taxes paid (1,759,470) (1,491,694)

    

Net cash flows from operating activities 15,579,041 10,715,596
    

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (88,933,370) –
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 69,469,402 10,804,490
Purchases of financial assets at amortised cost (31,324,564) –
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at amortised 

cost 24,122,400 –
Receipts from/(payment to) time deposits with original 

maturity of beyond three months 25,155,300 (54,004,292)
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment – (86,525)

    

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,510,832) (43,286,327)
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,068,209 (32,570,731)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 22,460,341 55,031,072
    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 36,528,550 22,460,341
    

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Amounts as stated in the statement of financial position 66,185,156 79,122,482
Time deposits with original maturities of beyond three 

months (29,657,108) (56,662,270)
Impairment allowance provided for components of cash 

and cash equivalents 502 129
    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the statement of 
cash flows 36,528,550 22,460,341

    

Chairman

Deng Hong

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(d)	 Statement of cash flows
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1. 

(e) 

2024

1,400
1.63% 2024

2.12 8.58%

2024
64.07

10.14%

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)	 Business development and management report

In 2024, with a complex and uncertainty external economic 
environment, ICBC (Macau) Capital Limited sustained a steady 
development and achieved after-tax profits of MOP14 million, 
increase by 1.63% compared to last year. The total assets increased 
by 8.58% to MOP212 million at the year ended 2024. In addition, 
the Company became the first financial institution completed the 
filing procedure of private investment fund management business in 
Macau and successfully launched the first private investment fund 
in Macau. By the end of 2024, the total assets under management of 
its funds grew to MOP 6.407 billion, representing a 10.14% year-on-
year increase.

Looking ahead, in light of the overall development strategy of 
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited and the 
moderately diversified economic development strategy of Macao, 
the Company will give full play to the advantages of the networks, 
branding, capital and technology resources of ICBC Group. The 
Company will continue to actively engage in promoting Macao’s 
modern financial development, cross-border investment business 
linkage, and local residents’ wealth appreciation to become a 
professional investment institution with uplifting asset efficiency 
and strong risk prevention and control capability, in a bid to 
provide customers with stable and long-term investment returns, 
and support the moderately diversified economic development and 
sustained prosperity and stability of Macao.

Chairman
Deng Hong

Macao, 31 March, 2025
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1. 

(f) 

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(f)	 The report from the Board of Supervisors

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association 
and for the purpose of fulfilling the requirements thereof, ICBC 
(Macau) Capital Limited has submitted the 2024 financial year 
audited financial statements, the Board of Directors’ report, and the 
proposal on the utilization of surplus to the Board of Supervisors 
for the issuance of an opinion.

In our opinion, the documents submitted to our firm give a fair 
view of the Company’s assets value and its financial and economic 
status.

The report of the Board of Directors and the proposal on surplus 
distribution clearly evidences the Company’s business activities 
performed and carried out by the Company in the financial year 
under appraisal.

Taking into consideration the opinion stated in the external auditor’s 
report, we concur with the opinion expressed in such report, 
whereas the documents supporting the said financial statements 
evidence the truly and accurate financial status exhibited in the 
balance sheet dated 31 December, 2024, as well as the financial 
results of the financial year ended 2024.

In conclusion, it is resolved to approve the aforementioned financial 
statement, report, and proposal.

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
CSC & Associates, Certified Public Accountants
(Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)

Macao, 31 March 2025
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1. 

(g) 

13/2023

810

13/2023

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(g)	 A summary of the external auditors’ report

To the shareholders of ICBC (Macau) Capital Limited
(Incorporated in Macau with limited liability)

The accompanying condensed financial statements of the ICBC 
(Macau) Capital Limited (the “Company”) include the Condensed 
Statement of Financial Position dated 31 December 2024 and the 
Condensed Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 31 December 2024. The condensed 
financial statements of the Company are sourced from the audited 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2024. We have issued unqualified opinion in the auditors’ 
report signed on 31 March 2025 for the financial statements that 
constitute a source of the condensed financial statements. These 
financial statements and the condensed financial statements do not 
reflect the impact of events that occur after the audit report date.

Since the condensed financial statements do not include all 
disclosures required by the Financial Reporting Standards of Macau 
SAR, reading of the condensed financial statements cannot replace 
that of the audited financial statements of the Company.

Director’s Responsibility for the Condensed Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of condensed 
financial statements in accordance with the Financial System Act of 
Macau under the Law No. 13/2023, Article 85 (1).

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 810 
-Engagements to Report on Condensed Financial Statements set out 
in the Standards on Auditing.

Opinion

In our opinion, the condensed financial statements sourced from 
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2024 were prepared in accordance with the Financial 
System Act of Macau under the Law No. 13/2023, Article 85 (1). 
The condensed financial statements are consistent with the audited 
financial statements in all material respects.

Chan Wai
Certified Public Accountant
Ernest & Young
Macau

11 April 2025
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1. 

(h) 5%

(i) 

(j) 

 
 2024 2 5

 
 

 2024 2 5
 

 
 2024 2 5

 
 2024 2 5

 
 2024 2 5

 
 
 

 2024 9 26
 

 2024 9 26

 
 2024  
  10 28

 
 
 2024 10 28

 
 2024 10 28

 
 2024 10 28

 
 2024 9 26

 
 2024 9 26

1.	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(h)	 List of institutions in which they have holdings over 5% of 
share capital, etc.

None

(i)	 List of the shareholders with qualifying holdings

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited

(j)	 Name of the members of the company boards

Board of Directors
Mr. Deng Hong	 Chairman
  (appointed on 5 February, 2024)
Mr. Huen Wing Ming, Patrick	 Director
Mr. Cao Dai Fu	 Director
  (appointed on 5 February, 2024)
Mr. Huang Xian Jun	 Director
Mr. Liu Lei	 Director
  (appointed on 5 February, 2024)
Mr. Niu Jian Jun	 Chairman
  (resigned on 5 February, 2024)
Mr. Zheng Bin	 Director
  (resigned on 5 February, 2024)

Board of the General Meeting
Mrs. Gao Ming	 Chairman
Mr. Huen Chung Yuen, Ian	 Vice-Chairman
Mr. Li Yingren	 Secretary
  (appointed on 26 September, 2024)
Ms. Chen Cui Ping	 Secretary
  (resigned on 26 September, 2024)

Single Supervisor
CSC & Associates, Certified Public Accountants
  (Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)
  (The board of supervisors was reorganized and established  
    in accordance to laws and regulations on October 28, 2024)

Board of Supervisors
CSC & Associates, Certified Public Accountants	 Chairman
  (Represented by Mr. Chui Sai Cheong)
  (appointed on 28 October, 2024)
Mr. Hao Ruiming	 Supervisor
  (appointed on 28 October, 2024)
Ms. Sun Shaoyi	 Supervisor
  (appointed on 28 October, 2024)

Company Secretary
Mr. Li Yingren	 Secretary
  (appointed on 26 September, 2024)
Mrs. Chen Cui Ping	 Secretary
  (resigned on 26 September, 2024)
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2. 

3.  

2024

4. 

2024

5. 

29-58

6. 

6.1 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

0.15%

(iv) 

2.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors are established under the Shareholders’ Meeting 
of the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company establishes 
three special committees, which are the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Risk Management Committee.

3.	 OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES OTHER THAN 
DERIVATIVES TRANSACTIONS

There was no off-balance sheet exposure during the year.

4.	 DERIVATIVES TRANSACTIONS

There was no derivatives transaction during the year.

5.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer to page 29-58.

6.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

6.1	 The policy for lending to related parties

(i)	 The Company earned investment management fee income 
from the immediate holding company. The investment 
management fee income was charged based on a pre-
determined percentage of the asset value of the fund 
portfolio managed and the nominal amount or price 
difference of wealth management products.

(ii)	 The Company earned pension fund investment management 
fee income from a fellow subsidiary. The pension fund 
investment management fee income was charged based on a 
pre-determined percentage of the asset value of the pension 
fund portfolio managed and also the fund management 
performance of the Company compared to the pre-
determined target and benchmark return.

(iii)	 The Company is entitled to receive fund management fee 
from the funds managed by the Company. The management 
fee was based on 0.15% of the net asset value of the funds 
(annually).

(iv)	 The Company earned interest income from the immediate 
holding company. The interest income was generated from 
the deposits placed with the immediate holding company 
and the interest rate offered was similar to those offered to 
other customers of the immediate holding company.
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6. 

6.1 

(v) 

(vi) 

6.2 

31 December 2024

MOP
   

(i) Investment management fee income received from immediate holding 
company (i) 690

 
(ii)

Pension fund investment management fee income received from a 
fellow subsidiary (ii) 17,976,601

(iii) Fund management fee income earned from the funds managed by the 
Company (iii) 169,658

(iv) Interest income received from immediate holding company (iv) 1,617,447
Bank balances with immediate holding company 66,185,156

(v) Amount due from a fellow subsidiary (v) 4,590,917
(vi) Amount due to immediate holding company (vi) 820,585

(vi) Amount due to immediate holding company (vi) 820,585

6.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

6.1	 The policy for lending to related parties (continued)

(v)	 The amount due from a fellow subsidiary are unsecured, 
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(vi)	 Apart from the Company balances with immediate holding 
company, the Company had amounts due from/to immediate 
holding company as at the end of the reporting period. 
The amounts due from/to immediate holding company 
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 
repayment.

6.2 Qualitative disclosure

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial 
statements, other material related party transactions entered into by 
the Company with related parties and amounts outstanding with 
related parties are as follows:
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7.	 CAPITAL

7.1	 Qualitative disclosure

(a)	 Summary of the main features of all capital instruments:

According to the latest provisions of the AMCM Guidelines 
on Composition of Own Funds, the Company’s capital is 
mainly composed of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital, of 
which Tier1 capital includes Common equity tier 1 capital 
(CET1) and Additional tier 1 capital (AT1).

Main Capital items explained as follow:

Common equity tier 1 capital (CET1): Mainly includes 
common shares, share premium, retained earnings, 
accumulated other comprehensive income, other disclosed 
reserves and Common equity tier 1 capital deductions;

Retained earnings: Mainly includes profits and losses brought 
forward from previous years except for any profits (positive 
figures) without an external audit. The current year’s interim 
profit may also be included provided the conditions have 
been satisfied. For the current year’s interim loss incurred, 
it should be immediately included even in the absence of an 
external audit;

Accumulated other comprehensive income: Includes OCI 
brought forward from previous years except for any positive 
OCI without an external audit. The current year’s positive 
interim OCI may also be included provided the applicable 
conditions have been satisfied. while the current year’s 
negative interim OCI incurred should be immediately 
included even in the absence of an external audit;

Other disclosed reserves: Includes legal reserve, other earned 
surplus, specific regulatory reserves and general regulatory 
reserves required by the AMCM;

Additional tier 1 capital: Mainly refers to qualifying 
Additional tier 1 capital instruments;

Tier 2 capital: Mainly includes eligible accumulated 
provisions for expected credit loss (ECL) in stage 1& 2 
and general regulatory reserves required by the AMCM, 
Qualifying Tier 2 capital instruments.

7. 

7.1 

(a) 
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7.	 CAPITAL (continued)

7.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(b)	 Capital management:

The pr imar y object ives  of  the Company’s  capita l 
management are to ensure that the Company complies with 
capital requirements of regulatory authorities, and to support 
its business development. While actively managing its capital 
conditions, the Company is committed to improving the 
efficiency of its capital use and enhancing shareholder value.

The Company makes adjustments to its capital management 
policy in the light of changes in economic conditions in 
the market and risk characteristics. With a sound capital 
management mechanism, the Company regularly measures, 
monitors and manages changes in capital and risk weighted 
assets to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements 
while improving the return on capital. The Company 
formulates a capital management plan on an annual basis, 
evaluates the reasonable capital level and structure for the 
future, and replenishes capital through different channels 
in a well-timed manner to ensure its long-term sustainable 
development.

During the year, the Company has complied with all of the 
capital requirements imposed by the AMCM.

7.2	 Quantitative disclosure

7. 

7.1 

(b) 

7.2 

MOP’000, %
   

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 188,133
Qualifying common shares 50,000
Retained earnings 114,575
Accumulated other comprehensive income (3,584)
Other disclosed reserves 27,238

Deduction:
Deferred tax assets, net of associated deferred tax liabilities (96)

Additional Tier 1 Capital –
Tier 1 Capital 188,133
Tier 2 Capital –
Own funds 188,133

% Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%
% Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%

% Total capital ratio (ICBC Capital) 122.12%
Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC – Group level) 14.10%
Tier 1 capital ratio (ICBC – Group level) 15.36%
Total capital ratio (ICBC – Group level) 19.39%

(vi) Amount due to immediate holding company (vi) 820,585
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8.	 CREDIT RISK

8.1	 Qualitative disclosure

Investments are only in liquidity securities issued by counterparty of 
sound credit standing. Given that high credit standing, management 
does not expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its 
obligations. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in 
the event the counterparties fail to perform their obligations as at 
31 December 2024, in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets, is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the 
statements of financial position.

The Company has certain concentration of credit risk as the 
majority of the Company’s assets are placed with its immediate 
holding company and several corporate issuers of debt securities.

(a)	 Definition and scope

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from counterparty’s 
failure to perform its obligations. Operational failures which 
result in investments by the Company may also give rise 
to credit risk. In the Company, investments are only in 
liquidity securities issued by counterparty of sound credit 
standing. Given that high credit standing, management does 
not expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its 
obligations.

(b)	 Credit risk assessment method

The Company classifies financial instruments into three 
stages and makes provisions for expected credit loss 
accordingly, depending on whether credit risk on that 
financial instrument has increased significantly and 
whether the assets have become credit-impaired since initial 
recognition. Refer to note 5.2(e) Impairment of financial 
assets for the definition of the three stages.

In addition, the Company adopts asset level classification 
which divides financial assets into five categories with 
reference to the AMCM’s guidelines, as below:

8. 

8.1 

2024
12 31

(a) 

(b) 

5.2(e)
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8. 

8.1 

(b) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

(c) 

30

8.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

8.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk assessment method (continued)

Asset Level Classification

•	 Pass: Financial assets where borrowers are current in 
meeting commitments and full repayment of interest 
and principal is not in doubt;

•	 Special Mention: Financial assets where borrowers 
are experiencing difficulties which may threaten the 
institution’s position;

•	 Substandard: Financial assets where borrowers are 
displaying a definable weakness that is likely to 
jeopardise repayment;

•	 Doubtful: Financial assets where collection in full is 
improbable and the institution expects to sustain a 
loss of principal and/or interest after taking account 
of the net realisable value of security;

•	 Loss :  Financia l  assets  which are considered 
uncollectible after exhausting all collection efforts 
such as realisation of collateral, institution of legal 
proceedings, etc.

(c)	 Significant increase in credit risk

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk and 
whether the assets have become credit-impaired since initial 
recognition is performed at least on a monthly basis for 
financial instruments held by the Company. The Company 
takes into consideration all reasonable and supportable 
information (including forward- looking information) that 
reflects significant change in credit risk for the purposes of 
classifying financial instruments. The main considerations 
are regulatory and operating environment, internal and 
external credit risk rating, debt-servicing capacity, operating 
capabilities, contractual terms, and repayment records. 
The Company compares the risk of default of a single 
financial instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments 
with similar credit risk characteristics as at the end of the 
reporting period and its risk of default at the date of initial 
recognition to determine changes in the risk of default over 
the expected lifetime of a financial instrument or a portfolio 
of financial instruments. In determining whether credit risk 
of a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Company considers factors indicating 
whether the probability of default has risen sharply, whether 
the financial instrument has been past due for more than 30 
days, whether the market price has been falling continuously 
and other indicators.
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8.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

8.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(d)	 Parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

ECL for a financial instrument is measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL depending on 
whether a significant increase in credit risk on that financial 
instrument has occurred since initial recognition. The key 
parameters include Probability of Default (“PD”), Loss 
Given Default (“LGD”), and Exposure at Default (“EAD”), 
considering the time value of money.

PD is the possibility that a customer will default on its 
obligation within a certain period of time in light of forward-
looking information. The Company’s PD is adjusted based 
on the results of the Company’s Internal Ratings-Based 
Approach and taking the forward-looking information into 
account and deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect 
the debtor’s point-in-time PD under the current macro-
economic environment.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a 
default. The Company estimates LGD parameters based 
on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted 
counterparties, taking into account forward-looking 
economic assumptions where relevant. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, 
counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral 
that is integral to the financial asset.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a 
default. The Company derives the EAD from the current 
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the 
current amount allowed under the contract and arising 
from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross 
carrying amount at the time of default.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation, such as 
how the PDs and LGDs of different maturity profiles change 
are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the 
Company.

There have been no significant changes in estimation 
techniques or significant assumptions adopted in ECL 
calculation during the year.

8. 

8.1 

(d) 

12

(PD) (LGD)
(EAD)
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8.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

8.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(d)	 Parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques 
(continued)

The impairment loss of investments under ECL stage 3 is 
measured/calculated based on discounted cash flow method. 
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The impairment is recognised 
through an allowance account in the profit or loss.

In determining allowances on an individual basis, the 
following factors are considered:

1.	 The sustainability of the borrower’s business plan;

2.	 The borrower’s ability to improve performance when 
a financial difficulty arises;

3.	 The estimated recoverable cash flows from projects 
and liquidation;

4.	 The availability of other financial support and the 
realisable value of collateral; and

5.	 The timing of the expected cash flows.

The Company incorporates management overlay to address 
model ineffectiveness prospectively when necessary.

8. 

8.1 

(d) 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 
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8.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

8.1	 Qualitative disclosure (continued)

(e)	 Forward-looking information contained in ECL

The Company incorporates forward-looking information 
into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of 
an instrument has increased significantly since its initial 
recognition and the measurement of ECL.

The Company formulates three economic scenarios: a 
base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 60% 
probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, 
one upside and one downside, assigned a 15% and 25% 
probability of occurring respectively.

The Company has identified and documented key drivers 
of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial 
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has 
estimated relationships between macro-economic variables 
and credit risk and credit losses. Hong Kong CPI and China 
GDP differences are considered as the key drivers of credit 
risk. The impact of these economic variables on the PD 
and LGD has been determined by performing statistical 
regression analysis to understand the correlations among 
the historical changes of the economic variables, PD and 
LGD. Forecasts of these economic variables are carried out 
at least semi- annually by the Company that provide the best 
estimate view of the economy over the next year.

When calculating the weighted average ECL provision, the 
Company determines the optimistic, neutral and pessimistic 
scenarios and their weightings through a combination of 
macro-statistical analysis and expert judgement.

8. 

8.1 

(e) 

60%

15% 25%
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8.	 CREDIT RISK (continued)

8.2	 Quantitative disclosure

Except for deposits placed with the Company’s immediate holding 
company, there was no credit risk exposure to other parties during 
the period.

8.2.1	 Geographic distribution of exposures

The following table sets out the credit exposures of debt 
securities broken down in significant geographical segment 
which not less than 10%.

a.	 Debt securities

8. 

8.2 

8.2.1 

10%

a. 

MOP’000

Region

Government 
or Public 

Sector
Financial 

Institution
Other 

Company Total      

China – 127,014 12,704 139,718      

8.2.2 

MOP’000

Expected credit loss

Gross 
Amount

Real 
Guarantee 

Value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3       

Pass 139,718 – 2 – –
Special Mention – – – – –
Substandard – – – – –
Doubtful – – – – –
Loss – – – – –       

139,718 – 2 – –       

8.2.2	 Credit quality analysis under regulatory asset classification
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9.	 MARKET RISK

9.1	 Qualitative disclosure

A description of its risk management objectives and policies on 
market risk

The objective of market risk management is to obtain the best 
balance of risk and return of the Company’s positions arising from 
movements in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and changes 
in credit market condition. The market risk policies and processes 
include risk limits and exposures management, stress-testing, 
counterparty evaluations and country risks assessment. In 2024, 
we continued to strengthen market risk management by improving 
policies and procedures, risk reporting and limit management.

9.2	 Quantitative disclosure

Not applicable

10.	 OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of unexpected financial losses resulting 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or 
from external events. Operational risk is inherent to every aspect 
of daily business operations within an organisation, which covers 
a wide spectrum of issues and root causes. Senior management 
provides adequate oversight to ensure operational risks (including 
technology risk) are identified, assessed, mitigated, and reported 
with adequate control measures and procedures. Operational risk is 
also monitored through the implementation of various management 
tools, including key risk assessment, key risk indicators, operational 
loss data collection and incident reporting etc. The Company 
will keep on pursuing proactively the effective operational risk 
management practice in accordance with the relevant guidelines 
and principles.

The Board of Directors and Senior Management undertake the 
responsibilities to lead and implement operational risk management 
and put great emphasis on it. By allocating adequate resources, 
supervising the implementation on management strategy and 
measures, and appointing independent departments of the parent 
company to establish and implement operational risk management 
system, the consistency and efficiency of operational risk 
management is ensured.

9. 

9.1 

2024

9.2 

10. 
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11.	 INTEREST RATE RISK

11.1	 Qualitative disclosure

Except for bank balances and investments in debts securities 
measured at amortised cost or fair value through comprehensive 
income, the Company does not hold other interest-bearing financial 
assets or financial liabilities. All (2023: All) investments in debts 
securities bear fixed coupon rates and are not subject to significant 
interest rate risk. Approximately 96.5% (2023: 85.5%) of the bank 
balances are fixed deposits based on fixed interest rates and are not 
subject to significant interest rate risk. With an insignificant portion 
of bank balances bear floating interest rate, management considers 
that the interest rate risk of the Company is minimal.

11.2	 Quantitative disclosure

Analysis of interest rate exposures at a shock of 200 basis points

11. 

11.1 

2023

2024 12 31
96.5% 2023 85.5%

11.2 

200

MOP’000, %

CNY USD HKD MOP Total       

200
 

Changes of the Company’s economic 
value at a shock of 200 basis 
points – 4,597 4 – 4,601       

* Own funds* 188,133       

*
Impact on economic value as % of 

own funds* 2.45%       

*

12. 

12.1 

2024 12 31

201,417,624 2023 180,322,044

12.2 

201,417,624
2023: 180,322,044

(* These items are relevant for credit institutions incorporated in Macao 
only.)

12.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

12.1	 Qualitative disclosure

The Company takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its bank balances and 
financial assets denominated in United States dollars (“USD”) as at 
31 December 2024, which is equivalent to MOP201,417,624 (2023: 
MOP180,322,044). Management considers the Company’s exposure 
to the risk of changes in foreign currency rates as minimal as MOP 
is linked to Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) and HKD is linked to 
USD.

12.2	 Quantitative disclosure

Net long of  US Dol lar  Deposit  which is  equiva lent  to 
MOP201,417,624 (2023: MOP180,322,044). 
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13. 

13.1 

13.2 

13.2.1 

MOP’000

1 1 3 3 1 1 3 3
Assets

On 
Demand

Up to 
1 month

From 
1 to 3 

months

From 
3 month 
to 1 year

From 
1 to 3 
years

Over 
3 years

Indefinite 
period Total

          

Loans and advances to customers – – – – – – – –
Cash and balances with and loans and advances to 

banks 2,260 35,461 3,198 24,459 – – – 65,378
Certificates of deposit held – – – – – – – –
Securities issued by Macao SAR Government and/or 

AMCM – – – – – – – –
Other securities – – 31,786 12,704 95,228 – – 139,718

          

Liabilities
Deposits and balances of banks and financial 

institutions – – – – – – – –
Deposits from public sector entities – – – – – – – –
Deposits from holding and associated companies – – – – – – – –
Deposits from non-bank customers – – – – – – – –
Certificates of deposits issued – – – – – – – –
Other securities issued – – – – – – – –

          

14. 

13.	 LIQUIDITY RISK

13.1	 Qualitative disclosure

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty 
in raising funds to meet its payment obligations when due. The 
Company is not exposed to significant liquidity risk. The Company’s 
strategy is to minimise its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring 
the Company’s capital from time to time, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

13.2	 Quantitative disclosure

13.2.1	 Maturity analysis on assets and liabilities

14.	 NOTES

Item 1, 5 and 6 are audited among all the items disclosed.
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